Collective Agreement

between

Ontario Public Service Employees Union and its Local 594

AND

Family Service Association of Toronto

Duration: April ■ 2002 TO: March 31, 2005





Sector 5A



10971 641

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE# PAGE#
PREAMBLE1
ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION1
ARTICLE 2 - RELATIONSHIP1
ARTICLE 3 – CODE OF CONDUCT4
ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS4
ARTICLE 5 - CHECK-OFF OF UNION DUES5
ARTICLE 6 - EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATION6
ARTICLE 7 - ASSOCIATION - UNION MEETINGS7
ARTICLE 8 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE8
ARTICLE 9 - DISCHARGES AND GRIEVANCES9
ARTICLE 10 - POLICY GRIEVANCE10
ARTICLE 11 - ARBITRATION11
ARTICLE 12 - BULLETIN BOARD12
ARTICLE 13 - JOB POSTING AND TRANSFER12
ARTICLE 14 - SALARY TREATMENT FOR NEW CLASSIFICATION, PROMOTIONS
AND TEMPORARY TRANSFERS15
ARTICLE 15 - SENIORITY15
ARTICLE 16 - LAY-OFFAND RECALL17
ARTICLE 17 - SICK LEAVE20
ARTICLE 18 - BENEFITS21
ARTICLE 19 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE23
ARTICLE 20 - PREGNANCY/PARENTAL LEAVE27
ARTICLE 21 - VACATIONS29
ARTICLE 22 - HOLIDAYS30
ARTICLE 23 - HOURS OF WORK32
ARTICLE 24 - OVERTIME33
\RTICLE 25 - WAGE RATES AND CLASSIFICATIONS33

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE #	PAGE#
ARTICLE 26 - TRANSPORTATION	34
ARTICLE 27 - PERSONNEL FILES	34
ARTICLE 28 - RETIREMENT	34
ARTICLE 29 - TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE	34
ARTICLE 30 - TRAINING AND CAREER DEVELOPMENT	35
ARTICLE 31 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT	36
SCHEDULE I - GROUP I - SUPPORT STAFF	37
SCHEDULE II- GROUP II- SOCIAL WORK AND COUNSELLING STAFF	38
SCHEDULE III - APRIL 1, 2002 - SEPTEMBER 30, 2002	39
SCHEDULE IV - OCTOBER 1, 2002 - MARCH 31, 2003	40
SCHEDULE V - APRIL 1, 2003 - SEPTEMBER 30, 2003	41
SCHEDULE VI - OCTOBER ■ 2003 - MARCH 31, 2004	42
SCHEDULE VII - APRIL 1, 2004 - SEPTEMBER 30, 2004	43
SCHEDULE VIII - OCTOBER 1, 2004 - MARCH 31, 2005	44
SCHEDULE IX - ACCUMULATION TIMETABLE	45
SCHEDULE X - VACATION SCHEDULE	46
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING • RE: TEMPORARY, CASUAL OR CONTRACT	
EMPLOYEES	47
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING - SICK CREDITS AND VACATION CREDITS	49
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING - RE: FLEX TIME	50
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING - RE: EMERGENCY AFTER HOURS, EAP TRAIN	ING
TEAM, DOMESTIC VIOLENCE GROUPS, FAMILY LIFE,	
EDUCATION PROGRAMMES; ETC	51
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING - RE: PENSION ADVISORY COMMITTEE	52
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING • RE: EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING	54
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING - RE: JOINT BENEFITS COMMITTEE	56

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE #	PAGE #
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING R	E: HOURS OF WORK IN EXCESS OF 35 PER WEEK .57
MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT	58
APPENDIX " A	60
APPENDIX "B"	61

PREAMBLE

The purpose of this Agreement is to establish and maintain working conditions, hours of work and salaries with respect to employees covered by this Agreement and to provide for a prompt and orderly method of settling complaints or grievances which might arise hereunder. The Union recognizes the obligation of the Association to provide services to the public pursuant to its mandate to respond to human needs in society, its commitment to helping families cope with the stress of life, and its obligation to comply with applicable legislation.

The Association and the Union are committed to the principles of employment equity, internal equity and a participative work environment and acknowledge the importance of attempting to enhance employment stability in the workplace.

ARTICLE - RECOGNITION

- 1.01 The Association recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive collective bargaining agent of all persons employed by Family Service Association of Toronto in Toronto, save and except positions identified in Appendix A and new positions in which an employee exercises managerial or confidential functions within the meaning of the Ontario Labour Relations Act. For the purpose of clarity, a list of current exclusions is attached as Appendix "A".
- 1.02 For the purposes of discussing a new position which the Association asserts should be excluded because the employee exercises managerial or confidential functions, the Union shall be provided with the job description of the position. In the event of a dispute as to whether a person filling a new position exercises managerial functions or is employed in a confidential capacity within the meaning of the Ontario Labour Relations Act, the matter shall be referred to the Ontario Labour Relations Board for determination. The parties agree to abide by the decision of the Ontario Labour Relations Board and to include or exclude the position accordingly.

ARTICLE 2 - RELATIONSHIP

2.01 No Strikes and No Lockout

In view of the orderly procedures established by this Agreement and provisions of the Labour Relations Act, R.S.O. 1980, the Union and employees agree that there will be no strike, slowdown, work stoppage either complete or partial or other interruption or interference with operations during the term of this Agreement. The Association agrees that there shall be no lockout by it during the term of the Agreement.

2.02 No Harassment/Discrimination

The Association agrees that there will be no discrimination, interference, restraint or coercion exercised or practised by it or its representatives against any employee

because of membership or non-membership, or activities or lack of activity in the Union.

2.03 The Union agrees that there will be no discrimination, intimidation, interference, restraint, or coercion exercised or practised by members or representatives of the Union against any employee of the Association, because of membership or non-membership, or activities or lack of activity in the Union, and that there will be no solicitation of membership, collection of dues or other Union activity during any employee's working hours, and no distribution of literature or meetings on the premises of the Association except with the Association's express permission or as otherwise provided herein.

2.04 Harassment/Discrimination Complaint/Grievance Procedure

The Union and Association recognize the dignity and worth of every individual and seek to create a climate of understanding and mutual respect in the workplace.

The parties agree that all employees covered by this Agreement have the right to work in an environment free from harassment and discrimination in accordance with the Human Rights Code. Harassment means engaging in a course of conduct that is known or ought reasonably to be known to be unwelcome. No employee shall be discriminated against or harassed because of race, ancestry, place of origin, colour, ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, sexual orientation, age, marital status, family status, disability.

No employee who files a complaint or testifies concerning another person's complaint shall suffer any reprisals.

2.05 Options

The employee shall elect the process by which his/her complaint is resolved. He/she may select the process outlined below or may choose to use the process outlined in the Association's policy on Workplace Discrimination and Harassment. This election is without recourse to any other internal process within the Association.

All employees have the right, as defined in the Human Rights Code, to file a complaint with the Human Rights Commission. This right is not limited in any way by the foregoing complaint/grievance procedure or by the Association's policy on Workplace Discrimination and Harassment.

2.06 Confidentiality

Every effort shall be made and maintained by all parties to treat the complaint in a sensitive and confidential fashion, consistent with providing reasonable information to the complainant and the respondent (i.e. the person against whom the complaint is made), as to the nature of the allegation, the progress of the complaint, and its resolution or disposition.

2.07 Representation

The complainant and/or respondent may choose a Union representative to assist him/her in presenting the complaint, discussing the complaint and in the course of any investigation or when making representations.

2.08 Complaint Stage and Investigation Stage

- a) The employee who has a complaint shall first raise the matter with their immediate manager by completing the approved discrimination/harassment complaint form. If the complaint is against the immediate manager, the complaint shall be raised with the next higher level of management.
- At any time during the investigation, the Association may refer the complaint to a third party investigator in place of the manager.
- within five (5)working days of receipt of such complaint, the manager shall meet with the employee to obtain all relevant details from him/her concerning the allegations of discrimination/harassment.
- d) Within ten (1) working days of such meeting, the manager shall have completed an investigation of the complaint by meeting with the respondent and any other individuals the manager deems necessary.
- e) Where the manager does not have jurisdictional authority over the respondent, the manager shall notify the appropriate line manager of the investigation.
- f) Upon completion of the investigation, the manager, shall within five (5) working days, schedule a meeting with the complainant, which will outline, in writing, the conclusion(s) drawn and action(s) to be taken concerning the disposition of the complaint. The manager shall inform individuals directly involved of the results of the investigation.
- g) It is understood that where there is no finding of discrimination or harassment, no documentation will be placed on the personnel files of either the complainant or the respondent.

2.09 Grievance

- a) If the complainant is not satisfied with the written response received from the manager, within ten (10) working days of the receipt of such written response he/she may forward a written grievance to the Executive Director or his/her designate.
- On receipt of the grievance, the Executive Director or his/her designate shall schedule a meeting within five (5) working days with the grievor to review the complaint, determine the areas of disagreement or dissatisfaction with the response given in Article 2.08 (f).
- The Executive Director or his/her designate, will then meet with the investigating manager in order to review all documentation, reports and evidence upon which the manager's decision was made. If warranted, the Executive Director or his/her designate may commission a further investigation which shall be completed within ten (10) working days.

The Executive Director or his/her designate, shall schedule a subsequent meeting within five (5)working days with the grievor in order to provide a written report outlining the results of the steps taken in 2.09 (c) including conclusion(s) reached, action(s) to be taken and the disposition of the grievance.

2.10 Arbitration

If the decision of the Executive Director or his/her designate is not satisfactory to the grievor, or if none is communicated within the time limits as set out above, the grievance may be submitted to Arbitration **as** set forth in Article **1**0 of this Agreement.

2.1 Where it appears to an Arbitrator or Arbitration panel that an employee who is a grievor under this Article has made a complaint under the Ontario Human Rights Code relating to the conduct which is the subject of the grievance, the Arbitrator or Arbitration panel may, as it sees fit, adjourn the grievance, stay the grievance, or dismiss the grievance.

2.12 Time Limits

Time limits provided for in this Article may be varied or extended by specific written agreement of the parties in any particular proceeding.

ARTICLE 3 – CODE OF CONDUCT

3.01 The Union and the Association recognize the dignity and worth of every individual and seek to create a climate of understanding and mutual respect in the workplace.

The parties agree that they will not tolerate, ignore, or condone any type of improper comment or conduct that a person knows or ought to know would be unwelcome, offensive, or embarrassing. Breaches of the Code of Conduct include derogatory remarks, name calling, threats or other forms of intimidation, bullying, inappropriate jokes, innuendoes and teasing, insulting gestures, practical jokes, hate literature, actions which invade personal privacy, spreading rumours that damage one's reputation, arbitrarily refusing to work with another and inappropriate use of authority.

Where there is an alleged violation of this article, employees will make their complaint known to their immediate manager within 10 working days. If the complaint is against the immediate manager, the complaint shall be raised with the next higher level of management. The manager, together with the employee, will develop a plan of action to review the alleged violation. If the matter is not resolved within the next 10 working days, the employee may submit a grievance at Step 1 of the grievance procedure described in Article 8.01.

ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

4.01 The Union acknowledges and recognizes that the Management of the Association and the direction of the working force are fixed exclusively with the Association and shall remain solely with the Association except as specifically limited by an express

provision of this Agreement. Without restricting the generality of the foregoing, the Union acknowledges that it is the exclusive function of the Association to:

- (a) maintain order, discipline and efficiency;
- (b) hire, retire, transfer, classify, assign, appoint, promote, demote, layoff, recall, suspend, discharge, or otherwise discipline employees provided that if any employee has been discharged or disciplined without just cause (providing in the case of discharge, a lesser standard shall apply for a probationary employee as outlined in Article 9.03) or promoted, demoted, classified, laid off or recalled contrary to the terms of this Agreement a grievance may be filed in accordance with the grievance procedure;
- (c) make and enforce from time to time such reasonable rules and regulations as the Association considers necessary or advisable for the efficient and orderly conduct of its business and require employees to observe such reasonable rules and regulations provided they are not inconsistent with the express provisions of this Agreement; the Union will be advised of any changes or additions to rules and regulations;
- (d) manage the Association and without restricting the generality of the foregoing to determine, modify, discontinue or add occupational classifications, job procedures, processes or operations; to establish new or improved methods and facilities and change schedules of work; to determine any necessary tests or examination to be given and methods of training; to determine programs, complement, organization and the number, location and classification of employees required from time to time, the number and location of facilities, services to be performed and assignments of work and the extension, limitation, curtailment or cessation of operations in whole or in part and all other rights and responsibilities not specifically modified by the express provisions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 5 - CHE OFF OF UNION DUES

- 5.01 The Association agrees to deduct an amount equal to the regular monthly Union dues from each employee in the bargaining unit commencing from the employee's date of hire.
- The amount of the regular monthly dues shall be those authorized by the Union and the Director of Finance of the Union shall notify the Association of any changes therein and such notification shall be the Association's conclusive authority to make the deductions specified.
- 5.03 In consideration of the deducting and forwarding of Union dues by the Association, the Union agrees to indemnify and save harmless the Association against any claims or liabilities arising or resulting from the operation of this Article.
- 5.04 Such dues shall be forwarded to the Director of Finance of the Union no later than the fifteenth day of the month following that month in which deduction is taken along with a list of employees from whom deductions were made, such list to show name, S.I.N. number and amount deducted.

5.05 The Association agrees to include the annual total of dues deducted on each employee's T4 slip.

5.06 Printing of the Collective Agreement

The parties will equally share in the cost of printing the Collective Agreement and in distributing sufficient copies to employees.

5.07 The Association shall advise the President of the Local of the name and position of each new employee hired into the bargaining unit.

ARTICLE 6 - EMPLOYEE REPRESENTATION

6.01 Employee Representatives

The Union will keep the Association informed of its executive body and committees and local regional representative.

- **6.02** For purposes of this Agreement, the name and position of each committee member, from time to time selected, shall be given to the Association in writing, the areas they represent and the effective date of their respective appointments.
- 6.03 No individual member or group of members shall undertake to represent the Union at meetings with the Association without the authorization of the properly elected local representative. The Union shall have the right to the assistance of OPSEU representatives at all times, provided the Union has first notified the Association, and the representatives shall be given reasonable access to the Association's premises to assist the members.

6.04 Grievance Committee

The Union may elect or appoint not more than six (6) stewards from amongst employees in the bargaining unit who have completed their probationary period for the purpose of assisting employees in the presentation of grievances in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.

- 6.05 The Association will recognize a Grievance Committee which shall not exceed three (3) in number, one of whom shall be designated chairperson.
- to perform their regular duties and responsibilities for the Association and shall not leave their regular duties without having first secured permission from their immediate manager, which permission shall not be unreasonably withheld, considering, however, the Association's operational responsibilities and the geographic locations. Union stewards requesting time off for the purposes of servicing grievances under the Collective Agreement shall advise their immediate manager of the nature of their business and report to such manager at the time of their return to work. If, in the performance of such

duties the steward is required to speak to employees at another work location, s/he will report his/her presence to the manager at that work location.

- 6.07 Leave of absence without pay but no loss of seniority credits shall be granted to the union steward who serviced the grievance, or a substitute steward, when required to attend arbitration hearings.
- 6.08 Stewards or members of the Grievance Committee shall not suffer any deduction in regular salary for time spent while engaged in the presentation of a grievance pursuant to Article 8. Members of the Union Committee referred to in Article 7 shall not suffer any deduction in regular salary for time spent meeting with the Association.

6.09 Negotiating Committee

The Association will recognize a Negotiating Committee of up to three (3) representatives for contract negotiating purposes. The salaries of these three (3) members shall suffer no deduction from regular straight time salary for the time spent in direct negotiations with the Association or for reasonable travel time when required, from one of the Association's work locations to the place where such negotiations are to be held, it being understood that such negotiations do not include conciliation or subsequent to conciliation.

Members of the Negotiating Committee shall be granted time off without pay but no loss of credits for Union caucus meetings held prior to negotiations.

6.10 Leave for Local President

The Local President or his/her designate shall be provided with paid leave of four (4) hours per week in order to conduct the internal affairs of the Local. The cost of this leave shall be equally shared by the Association and the Union. The actual schedule is subject to approval by the manager of the unit affected.

ARTICLE 7 - ASSOCIATION - UNION MEETINGS

- 7.01 The Association agrees, during the term of the Collective Agreement, to meet every two (2) months or more frequently as agreed to by the parties, with a committee of the Union comprised of not more than three (3) employee representatives. Meetings will be at a time agreed upon between representatives of the Union and the Association and any requests for a meeting shall be made in writing at least two (2) weeks in advance with an agenda provided.
- **7.02** The purpose of such meeting shall be to deal with present or prospective problems relating to the administration of the Collective Agreement or other matters mutually agreed to by the parties.

The purpose of such meeting shall be to identify present or potential problems relating to the administration of the Collective Agreement or other matters mutually agreed to by the parties with a view to arriving at solutions on the basis of consensus whenever possible.

7.03 Health & Safety

In recognition that the terms of the Occupational Health and Safety Act and Regulations apply to the Association, the parties agree to continue the Health and Safety Committee composed of four (4) bargaining unit members and four (4) members of management. Meetings are to **be** co-chaired by one Immember of each. The Committee shall meet a minimum of four (4) times a year and shall report to the Union and the Association through the Association-Union meetings, at least once a year.

In view of the legislated training requirements, it is agreed that the bargaining unit member who receives Health and Safety training will serve on the committee for a term of not less than three (3) years. It is understood that certified members will act in an exofficio capacity until such time as a new member has been trained,

The mandate of the committee shall be to review health and safety concerns relating to the workplace throughout the Association. The committee, in carrying out its mandate, may identify health and safety problems and recommend possible solutions.

E 8 - NCE PROCEDURE

8.01 The parties to this Agreement are agreed that it is important to adjust complaints and grievances as quickly as possible.

Complaints and grievances properly arising under this Agreement shall be adjusted and settled as follows:

Complaint Stage

It is understood that an employee has no grievance until s/he has first given his immediate manager the opportunity of adjusting his/her complaint. If an employee has a complaint, s/he shall discuss it with his immediate manager within ten (10) working days after the circumstances giving rise to the complaint have occurred or ought to have reasonably come to the attention of the employee. The manager shall give his/her response to the complaint within five (5) working days after such discussion and, failing settlement, it may be then taken up as a grievance in the following manner and sequence:

Step 1

If within five (5) working days, the grievor is dissatisfied with the disposition of the complaint, s/he may, with or without his/her union steward, present his/her grievance in writing to the immediate manager.

The grievance shall contain a statement of the facts relied upon and the articles of the Collective Agreement alleged to have been contravened, indicate the relief sought, and be signed and dated by the employee. The immediate manager shall answer the grievance in writing within seven (7) working days after receipt of the grievance.

step 2

Failing settlement of the grievance at Step 1, and within five (5) working days after receiving the answer in Step I the grievor, who shall have the assistance of the Union Grievance Committee, may submit the grievance in writing to the Executive Director or his/her designate.

Within the next ten (10) working **days** after submitting the grievance to the Executive Director or his/her designate, members of the Union Grievance Committee (which shall not exceed two (2) in number, including the steward involved at Step 1) the grievor and the Executive Director or his/her designate shall meet to discuss the matter. It is understood and agreed that a representative of O.P.S.E.U. may be present at such meeting at the request of either party and that the Association may have the assistance of counsel. If the grievance is not settled within five (5) working days after the meeting it may be referred to arbitration as hereinafter provided at any time within ten (10) working days thereafter but not later.

8.02 Time Limits

If any step of the grievance procedure has not been processed by the Association within the time limit as prescribed therein, the grievance shall automatically be advanced to the next step.

8.03 Time limits set forth herein are mandatory and not directory and failure of an employee to follow the procedures laid down in this Article, or Article 11, shall result in forfeiture of all rights to the grievance procedure and the grievance will be deemed to be abandoned, subject to s.44(6) of the Labour Relations Act.

The time limits fixed in this Article may be extended **by** mutual consent of both parties to this Agreement provided that there shall be no obligation on either party to so consent.

8.04 Group Grievances

Where it appears that two (2) or more employees have the same grievance, the Union shall process the grievances as one five all applicable provisions under the grievance procedure, provided that such grievance shall commence at Step 1.

<u>ARTICLE 9 - DISCHARGES AND GRIEVANCES</u>

9.01 An employee who claims s/he has been unjustly discharged from his employment may file a grievance in writing with the Executive Director or his/her designate at any time within five (5) working days after the employee is notified of his/her discharge. The grievance will then be dealt with at Step 2 of the grievance procedure.

- **9.02** A grievance referred to in Article 9.01, may be settled under the grievance or arbitration procedure by:
 - (a) confirming the Association's action; or
 - (b) reinstating the employee with or without loss of seniority and with or without full compensation for the time lost less any compensation received from any source during the period from the date of his/her suspension, discharge or layoff to his reinstatement; or
 - (c) by any other arrangement which may be deemed just and equitable.
- **9.03** It is understood that a probationary employee may **be** discharged for any reason provided there is not an act of bad faith and this shalt constitute a lesser standard within the meaning of the Labour Relations Act, Section 43.1.

ARTICLE 10 - POLICY GRIEVANCE

10.01 Step 1

Should any difference arise between the Employer and the Union as to the interpretation or alleged violation of the provisions of this Agreement affecting the Union as such, or the employees as a whole, both the Union and the Employer shall have the right to file a grievance with the Executive Director or Union President, or their designates. The grievance must be filed within 10 working days after the circumstances giving rise to the grievance.

The grievance shall contain a statement of facts relied upon and the articles of the Collective Agreement alleged to have been contravened, indicate the relief sought, and be signed and dated by the grievor.

The responding party shall answer the grievance in writing within seven (7) working days after receipt of the grievance.

Step 2

Failing settlement at Step 1, and within the next 7 working days, either party shall notify the other in writing of their desire to meet at Step 2. The meeting will occur within the next 10 working days. It is understood and agreed that a representative of O.P.S.E.U. may be present at such meeting at the request of either party and that the Association may have the assistance of counsel. If the grievance is not settled within five (5) working days after the meeting it may be referred to arbitration as hereinafter provided at any time within ten (1) working days thereafter but not later.

10.02 It is understood by the parties that the time limits as outlined in Articles 8.02 and 8.03 of this Agreement are applicable to Policy Grievances.

ARTICLE 11 = ARBITRATION

11.01 Where a difference arises between the parties relating to the interpretation, application or administration of this Agreement, including any question as to whether a matter is arbitrable, or where an allegation is made that this Agreement has been violated, either of the parties may, after exhausting any grievance procedure established by this Agreement, notify the other party in writing within ten (10) working days of its desire to submit the difference or allegation to arbitration. The notice of intention to proceed to Arbitration shall contain the details of the grievance, a precise statement of the matter in dispute, a statement of the actual remedy sought, name and address of the party's nominee as Sole Arbitrator.

The party who receives the notice of intention to proceed to arbitration shall then notify the other party of the name and address of the party's selection of an arbitrator within ten (10) working days after receiving the notice. If the parties are unable to agree upon the selection of an arbitrator within a period of ten (10) working days, either party shall then have the right to request the Ministry of Labour for Ontario to appoint an arbitrator or to refer the matter to a Board of Arbitration.

No person may be appointed as an arbitrator who has been involved in an attempt to negotiate or settle the grievance.

The Arbitrator shall hear and determine the difference or allegation and shall issue a decision and the decision shall be final and binding upon the parties and upon any employee affected by it.

Each of the parties hereto shall jointly and equally bear the expense of the arbitrator.

11.02 The Arbitrator shall not have any power to alter, modify or change any of the provisions of this Agreement, or to substitute any new provisions or any existing provisions, nor to give decisions inconsistent with the terms and provisions of this Agreement.

11.03 Arbitration Board

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Article, either party may refer a grievance to a Board of Arbitration. Such Board of Arbitration shall have the same jurisdiction, power and authority as has been given to the Sole Arbitrator.

Each party shall then notify the other party of the name and address of their nominee to the proposed arbitration board within the next five (5) working days. The two (2) nominees shall attempt to select a chairperson for the board. If they are unable to agree upon the selection within a further period of fifteen (15) working days after the appointment of the second nominee, either of the parties shall then have the right to request the Minister of Labour to appoint a chairperson for the board.

11.04 Expedited Arbitration

After exhausting any grievance procedure established by this Agreement, either party may apply for expedited arbitration under section 49 of the Ontario Labour Relations Act.

11.05 No matter may be submitted to arbitration which has not been properly carried through all requisite steps of the grievance procedure.

ARTICLE 12 - BULLETIN BOARD

12.01 The Union shall have the privilege of posting Union notices pertaining to matters relating to employees covered by the Collective Agreement on bulletin board spaces provided and assigned by the Association after first securing approval from the Association for the posting of each notice.

ARTICLE 13 - JOB POSTING AND TRANSFER

13.01 Job Posting

The Association will post notice of permanent vacancies within the bargaining unit for a period of ten (10) working days, and agrees to receive during that period written application from employees wanting to be considered for the vacancy.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Association may post a permanent vacancy for a period of five (5) working days in the event:

- (a) a permanent vacancy arises in circumstances in which an employee has failed to give two (2) weeks notice, or
- (b) upon the agreement of the Union.

The employer will endeavor to interview internal applicants who are qualified before interviewing external applicants.

The successful candidate shall be selected on the basis of his/her qualifications and abilities, including, but not limited to, educational qualifications, type of experience, training, reliability, efficiency and attendance. Where the Association determines that there are two or more applicants who are relatively equal, length of service with the Association will be the deciding factor.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is recognized that some social workers and/or counselling staff may be assigned to service clients through a formal service agreement with a third party, and it is recognized that the "acceptability" of the social worker and/or counsellor to the third party shall be another criterion to be considered and will override all other criteria as set out above.

In such circumstance(s), the parties will meet through the Union/Association Committee within five (5) working days of the decision. The Association shall provide evidence of the need to invoke this criterion, taking into account the needs of the Association and the

necessity to provide fair treatment for bargaining unit members. The parties agree to meet within the intent of Article 7.02, however, it is understood that if the Union cannot agree with the rationale provided by the Association, the Union or it's members, retain the right to file a grievance under these circumstances.

The employer will endeavour to interview internal applicants who are qualified before interviewing external applicants..

- 13.02 Vacancies which will not or are not expected to exceed ninety (90) calendar days and vacancies caused by absence due to vacations, illness, accident, or leaves of absence (including Pregnancy/Parental leave) which are not expected to exceed one hundred and twenty days (120), will not be posted unless agreed to by the parties. Such temporary vacancies may be filled at the discretion of the Association which may include the temporary reassignment of any employee.
- **13.03** A change in the regular hours of work of a position or the engagement of a contract employee or renewal of contracts with the incumbent shall not be deemed to be a vacancy within the meaning of this Article and shall, therefore, not be posted.

13.04 Transfers

It is understood that where the Association determines the redistribution of staff complement within a salary grade is required, the process which will be followed is described below:

- a) staff in the unit(s) affected will be advised of the number(s), type(s) of positions and the units where the positions are to be located;
- b) candidates being considered for the transfer positions shall be selected on the basis of qualifications and abilities, including educational qualifications, type of experience, training, reliability, efficiency and attendance;

Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is recognized that some social workers and/or counselling staff may be assigned to service clients through a formal service agreement with a third party, and it is recognized that the "acceptability" of the social worker and/or counsellor to the third party shall be another criterion to be considered and will override all other criteria as set out above.

In such circumstance(s), the parties will meet through the Union/Association Committee within five (5)working days of the decision. The Association shall provide evidence of the need to invoke this criterion, taking into account the needs of the Association and the necessity to provide fair treatment for bargaining unit members. The parties agree to meet within the intent of Article 7.02, however, it is understood that if the Union cannot agree with the rationale provided by the Association, the Union or it's members, retain the right to file a grievance under these circumstances.

volunteers for the transfer(s) will be sought by posting the opportunity for a period of five (5) working days. If in the opinion of the Association, two or more of the volunteer applicants are relatively equal with respect to the above criteria, then the most senior applicant(s) will be offered the position;

d) if there are transfer position(s) which have not been filled **as** described above, the Association will transfer the most junior employee(s) from the units affected who meet the requirements of the position(s).

13.05 Trial Period

The successful internal applicant shall be placed on trial for a period of three (3) months. It is agreed that this period may be extended by a further period, the length of which shall be mutually agreed to between the employee and the Association, provided that such further period shall not exceed two (2) months. Conditional upon satisfactory service, the employee shall be declared permanent after the period of three (3) months or such further period to which the parties have agreed. Where an employee and the Association have agreed to an extended trial period, the Union shall be notified of the fact.

If in the opinion of the Association, the successful internal applicant is unable to satisfactorily perform all the duties and responsibilities of the new job or elects to return to his/her former job prior to confirmation in the position, s/he shall be returned to his/her former position without loss of seniority, at the wage or salary rate of his/her former positions. Any other employee promoted or transferred because of the rearrangement of positions shall also be returned to his/her former position without loss of seniority, at the wage or salary rate of his/her former position.

- **13.06** In the event that an employee selected for a trial period:
 - (a) elects to terminate his/her trial period and return to his/her former job and salary;
 - (b) at any time during the trial period or before confirmation in a higher classification, is returned **by** the Association to his/her former **job** and salary;

such return shall be confirmed without prejudice to the employee's future promotion opportunities; provided, however, that any application by such employee for transfer or promotion to a vacancy in the same classification is made within six (6) months of the date of this return to his former position need not be considered by the Employer.

- **13.07** If the vacancy is not filled on the foregoing basis, the Association may appoint an employee to the vacancy or fill the position at its discretion, and in the interim may appoint an employee to the vacancy on a temporary basis.
- **13.08** The Association need not consider any applicant to a posting who has, within the prior twelve (12) month period, successfully bid on a vacancy, except where:
 - 1. The job posted would constitute a promotion for the applicant, and,
 - 2. The "successful bid" was more than six (6) months prior to the job posting, in which case the Association shall consider the applicant along with all other applicants.
- 13.09 Subject to the approval of the Executive Director, any permanent employee with one

 vertical part of service may be considered for secondment to a specialized service or
 project where funding is temporary without loss of their permanent status for a period

not to exceed two (2) years. A position in the employee's existing job classification will be maintained for the employee during that period.

ARTICLE 14 - SALARY TREATMENT FOR NEW CLASSIFICATION, PROMOTIONS AND TEMPORARY TRANSFERS

14.01 New Classifications

The parties have agreed to an Internal Equity Plan which shall be known as Appendix B of this Agreement.

The parties have agreed to make every effort to come to a mutual agreement on new classifications as outlined in Appendix B. When the Joint Job Evaluation Committee is unable to reach consensus regarding a bargaining unit classification, the Association will set the salary range.

Where the Union challenges the salary range established they may apply for arbitration within five (5) days following formal notification of the established salary range. It is understood that any arbitration board shall be limited to establishing an appropriate salary range based on the existing relationship amongst other salaries set out in the Collective Agreement and the duties and responsibilities of the classification in dispute.

Any change in the salary range established through arbitration shall be retroactive to the date at which such new classification was initially staffed.

14.02 Promotions

An employee promoted to a higher classification within the bargaining unit shall be placed at such level in the classification that will represent an increase of salary no less than one per in the salary range of his/her previous classification (providing it does not exceed the salary range of the classification to which he/she has been promoted).

14.03 Temporary Transfers

Notwithstanding the foregoing, an employee who is assigned temporarily to another position in the bargaining unit shall not receive any change in rate of salary unless the assignment is to a position in a higher classification for a period of five (5) consecutive working days or more, in which case the change in salary shall be retroactive to the first day of the assignment.

ARTICLE 15 - SENIORITY

15.01 Seniority, as referred to in this Agreement, shall mean actual accumulated active service within the bargaining unit calculated from last date of hire. Employees who are employed for less than a full work week shall accumulate seniority credits on a pro-rata basis. For the purpose of this Article, and Article 16, the following shall constitute seniority groups:

- (i) Group I as defined in Schedule I
- (ii) Group II as defined in Schedule II
- **15.02** An employee who is transferred to a position outside the bargaining unit for:
 - (a) a period of less than twenty-four **(24)** months or such longer period as the parties may agree upon or;
 - (b) a specific term of appointment, including temporarily replacing an employee outside the bargaining unit;

shall retain, but not accumulate seniority held at the time of transfer. In the event the employee is returned to a position in the bargaining unit within the time periods noted in (a) or (b) above, s/he shall be credited with the seniority held at the time of transfer and shall resume accumulation from the date of his/her return to the bargaining unit.

If a non-bargaining unit employee applies for, and is successful in obtaining a bargaining unit position, the parties agree that s/he shall maintain all service credits for the purposes of sick leave and vacation. Seniority in the bargaining unit shall commence from date of transfer into the bargaining unit.

15.03 Probationary Period

All employees shall be on probation for a period of six (6) continuous calendar months of active employment. The Association may extend the probationary period of any employee for up to three (3) continuous calendar months of active employment upon:

- (i) providing written notification to the Union of its wish to extend the probationary period no later than two (2) weeks preceding the expiry of the first period of probation, and
- the agreement of the Union and the affected employee to the extension.

 Upon successful completion of the probationary period including any extension an employee will be credited with seniority from date of hire and such seniority shall have application in accordance with the provisions herein. Normally, each employee will be given an assessment of work performance at about the mid point of his/her probationary period.
- **15.04** An employee will have no seniority rights during his/her probationary period including any extension of his/her probationary period.
- **15.05** Where an employee is on an authorized leave of absence, seniority and service may accumulate, unless otherwise specified in the Collective Agreement, for a leave period of up to, but not to exceed six (6) calendar months.
- **15.06** An employee who reduces his/her regular weekly hours of work, shall continue to accumulate seniority based on his/her regular hours of work for a period not to exceed six (6) months.

15.07 An employee shall lose seniority and his/her employment shall terminate if:

- (a) s/he voluntarily quits;
- (b) s/he is discharged and such discharge is not reversed through the grievance procedure;
- an employee has been laid off for six (6) calendar months in the case of an employee with up to one (1) ar of seniority and twelve (12) calendar months in the case of an employee with one (10) more years of seniority;
- (d) having been notified to return to work from lay-off, s/he fails to notify the Employer within two (2) working days of notification that s/he will report to work or fails to report back to work within five (5) working days after receipt of notification by the Employer to return to work. Date of receipt shall be considered to be that on which the Management's recall notice, sent by registered mail, is signed for in the presence of a postal employee, but in no event, longer than seven (7) calendar days from the date of registration. The recall notice being sent to the last address of the person on lay-off as furnished by her/him;
- (e) an employee utilizes a leave of absence for purposes other than for which the leave was granted, or fails to return to work after expiration of a leave of absence without providing a reason satisfactory to the Association;
- (f) an employee is absent from scheduled work for a period of three (3) consecutive working days without notifying the Association of such absence or providing a reason satisfactory to the Association.

15.08 Seniority List

A seniority list shall be established for employees covered by this Agreement. Such seniority list shall be updated annually and posted by March st of each year on the bulletin board described in Article 12. A copy shall be supplied to the Union at the same time.

ARTICLE 16 - LAY-OFF AND RECALL

- **16.01** In the event of a reduction in the number of employees within a seniority group as defined in Article 15, lay-off of staff shall be based on the following factors:
 - (a) skill, ability, experience and competence;
 - (b) seniority.

Where the criteria in factors (a) and (b) are relatively equal for the position in question, seniority shall govern, provided that the remaining employees have the necessary qualifications,

Notwithstandingthe foregoing, it is recognized that some social workers and/or counselling staff may be assigned to service clients through a formai service agreement with a third party, and it is recognized that the "acceptability" of the social worker and/or counsellor to the third party shall be another criterion to be considered and will override all other criteria as set out above,

In such circumstance(s), the parties will meet through the Union/Association Committee within five (5) working days of the decision. The Association shall provide evidence of the need to invoke this criterion, taking into account the needs of the Association and the necessity to provide fair treatment for bargaining unit members. The parties agree to meet within the intent of Article 7.02, however, it is understood that if the Union cannot agree with the rationale provided by the Association, the Union or it's members, retain the right to file a grievance under these circumstances.

It is also understood that no employee shall have the right to bump into a higher classification under this Article.

- 16.02 The Association agrees to notify the properly elected local representative and/or an Ontario Public Service Employees Union representative, as far in advance as reasonably possible, prior to the expected date of implementation of a lay-off. The Association further agrees to meet with the Union, through the Union/Association Committee, to review:
 - (a) the reason(s) causing the lay-off;
 - (b) potential alternatives which may include the utilization of other means, such as normal retirements, leaves, transfers, etc., in order to prevent or minimize the effects of the contemplated action;
 - (c) the service the Association will undertake after the lay-off;
 - (d) the method of implementation including the areas of cut-back and employee(s) to be laid off;
 - (e) ways in which the Association and the Union can assist employees to find alternate employment.

16.03 Job Security

No employee shall be laid off as a result of contracting out of work or services.

16.04 Displacement

In the event of a reduction in the number of employees within a seniority group as defined in Article 15, lay-off of staff shall be based on the following provisions:

- (a) probationary employees performing the work in question shall be the first to be laid off;
- (b) permanent employees who are subject to lay-off shall have the right to either:
 - (i) accept the lay-off and be placed on recall as outlined in Article 16.07;
 - (ii) displace the employee with the least seniority within their classification or another classification within the seniority group, who has not received a lay-off notice, subject to having the skills and ability to perform the work required, and provided they will make a commitment to work the same proportion of time as the displaced employee. Intention to exercise this

right must be declared within ten (10) days of notification of lay-off by the Association. Such employee so displaced shall be laid *off*, subject to his/her rights under this section.

16.05 An employee who displaces an employee in a lower paying classification, will be placed on the salary grid of the lower classification at the step which most closely resembles his/her current rate of pay.

16.06 Notice of Lay-off

In the event of lay-off, the Association will provide employees with no less than one (1) month's notice of lay-off. It being understood that the Association may, at its option, elect to give an employee pay in lieu of all or part of the notice period stipulated herein. Employees discharged for cause are not entitled to any notice. It is further understood and agreed that in no case shall the notice period be less than required by the Employment Standards Act.

16.07 Recall Rights

In the event of a subsequent increase in a seniority group, employees shall be recalled, subject to the provisions of Article 15.07 (c), in reverse order of lay-off, provided that the employees have the necessary qualifications and ability to perform the available work.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is recognized that some social workers and/or counselling staff may be assigned to service clients through a formal service agreement with a third party, and it is recognized that the "acceptability" of the social worker and/or counsellor to the third party shall be another criterion to be considered and will override all other criteria as set out above.

In such circumstance(s), the parties will meet through the Union/Association Committee within five (5) working days of the decision. The Association shall provide evidence of the need to invoke this criterion, taking into account the needs of the Association and the necessity to provide fair treatment for bargaining unit members. The parties agree to meet within the intent of Article 7.02, however, it is understood that if the Union cannot agree with the rationale provided by the Association, the Union or it's members, retain the right to file a grievance under these circumstances.

An employee recalled and reinstated to his/her former position shall receive the appropriate rate of pay for that position at the time of recall. Any employee recalled and reinstated to any other position will receive the appropriate rate of pay for such position at the time of recall.

16.08 The Association agrees, in the event of lay-off, that an employee so affected may continue medical coverage for a period as outlined in Article 15.07 (c) (subject to the terms of the plan and the approval of the insurance carrier) provided s/he pay the Association the full premium costs of such participation not later than the twenty-fifth (25th) day of the month prior to the month in which the payment becomes due. If such

payment is not made as aforesaid, the employee's participation in these plans shall be terminated forthwith.

ARTICLE 17 - SICK LEAVE

- 17.01 An employee who is unable to work due to legitimate personal illness shall be entitled to sick leave with pay during the period of his/her inability to work. Notwithstanding the above, an employee may take up to six (6) days per fiscal year (pro-rated to time worked) to care for his/her ill/physically dependent family member. The combined total of sick leave taken for personal illness and care of an ill/physically dependent family member shall not exceed unused accumulated sick leave credits pursuant to the terms of this article. This article applies equally to family members of a same sex partner.
- 17.02 Sick leave credits shall accumulate for each employee on the basis of hours worked, in accordance with the formula set out in Schedule IX which is attached to and forms a part of this Collective Agreement. Sick leave credits for an employee employed on a full work week basis, may be accumulated to a maximum of 840 hours, provided that accumulation of sick leave credits shall cease in the following cases:
 - (i) where an employee who is away from work due to illness or injury and has used all of his/her sick leave up,
 - (ii) where an employee who is on sick leave for more than thirty (30) consecutive days,
 - (iii) where an employee is on a leave of absence.

Employees who are employed for less than a full work week shall accumulate sick leave credits on a pro rata basis, such that accumulation of credits and total credits which may be accumulated are based on the proportion of the full work week the employee is normally scheduled to work.

17.03 Doctor's Notes

An employee must notify his/her manager immediately when it is necessary to be absent due to illness. The Association may require an employee who requests sick leave to produce a doctor's certificate if such sick leave continues for more than five (5) days, and in the event the illness continues beyond one (1) week, at such times as the Association may require.

The Association may require further the production of a doctor's certificate in the case of frequent absences due to personal illness.

The employee shall provide a doctor's certificate to the Association from a legally qualified medical practitioner that includes:

- Confirmation that the employee is unable to attend work due to illness or disability
- The duration that the employee is expected to be absent from work
- Confirmation of a general understanding of the essential duties of the employees position

- Comments regarding any limitations/restrictions that may exist
- Comments regarding any workplace accommodations, or modifications that are required to perform the essential duties of the position that may expedite their return or assist the employee upon their scheduled return to work.
- **17.04** There shall be no financial conversion of unused sick leave credits.

17.05 WSIB

It is recognized WSIB does not provide full salary. Employees deemed eligible by WSIB for workers compensation benefits may elect to utilize available sick credits to the extent that would provide the employee with their regular biweekly earnings.

- 17.06 If an employee on authorized vacation or leave of absence is unable to return to employment when scheduled to do so because of illness or injury, such employee will be entitled to use any accumulated and unused sick leave standing to his/her credit provided that the employee produces a medical certificate establishing such illness or injury to the satisfaction of the Association, if the Association so requires.
- 17.07 If an employee is laid off for whatever reason and returns to work, s/he shall not receive sick leave credits for the period of such absence. The number of days an employee is absent on account of illness or accident shall be deducted from the employee's sick leave credits.
- **17.08** Each employee shall be advised once a year, by May 1st, of the amount of sick leave accrued to his/her credit as of March 31st of that year.

ARTICLE 18 - BENEFITS

18.01 Major Medical Insurance

The Association shall contribute, during the term of this Collective Agreement, 100% of the billed premiums towards coverage of employees regularly scheduled to work 6/10 or more of a full work week under the OPSEU/Maritime Life Trusteed Benefit Plan, subject to the terms and conditions of the plan, provided that an employee who is covered elsewhere may be exempted hereunder in which case the Association shall not be obliged to contribute any premium payments towards coverage of that employee.

18.02 Group Life Insurance

The Association shall contribute, during the term of this Agreement, 100% of the billed premium towards coverage of employees regularly scheduled to work 6/10 or more of a full work week under the current Group Life Insurance Plan, to provide for term insurance coverage of one times salary on the life of the employee after the requisite waiting period and subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan. Employees, at their option, may participate in such additional coverage as is provided for by the Plan, provided that such

employees pay 100% of the premium costs of the additional coverage through payroll deduction.

18.03 Pension Plan

The Association shall continue to participate in the existing Family Service Association Pension Plan, which provides for both contributory and non-contributory membership, for employees, subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan; it being understood that employees, when required by the terms and conditions of the Plan, shall become members of the Plan and their required contributions shall be made by way of payroll deduction.

18.04 Benefit Coverage during Absence

The Association shall not be obliged to contribute any premiums in connection with an employee who *is* absent on approved leave of absence for more than one month: except for pregnancy and/or parental leave; however, such employee may continue benefits coverage during the duration of the leave period subject to the terms of the **plan** and the approval of the insurance carrier provided that s/he pays the Association the full premium costs of such participation no later than the twenty-fifth day of the month prior to the month in which the payment becomes due. if such payment **is** not made, as aforesaid, the employee's participation in these plans shall be terminated forthwith.

18.05 The Association shall not be obliged to contribute any premiums in connection with an employee who is laid off; however, such employee may continue medical coverage for up to three months following his/her layoff, provided s/he pays the Association the full premium costs of such participation not later than the twenty-fifth day of the month prior to the month in which the payment becomes due subject to the terms of the plan and the approval of the insurance carrier. If such payment is not made, as aforesaid, the employee's participation in these plans shall be terminated forthwith.

18.06 Dental Plan

The Association shall contribute, seventy-five percent (75%) of the billed premiums towards the coverage of employees regularly scheduled to work 6/10 or more of a full work week under the Dental Plan subject to the terms and conditions of the plan and subject to the deduction of the remaining twenty-five percent (25%) of the premium from the employee's salary. It is understood, however, that an employee with similar or better coverage elsewhere may claim exemption, in which *case* the Association is not obliged to make any contribution in connection with such employee.

As of January 1, 2002 reimbursements will be at current ODA levels. Details of coverage are included in "Your Benefits Plan Booklet", dated January **1** 2002.

2. Covered Expenses:

Shall be based on the current insurance contract.

18.07 Vision Care

The Association shall contribute, during the term of this Agreement, one hundred percent (100%) of the billed premiums towards the coverage of employees regularly scheduled to work six-tenth (6110) or more of a full work week under the Vision Care Plan, which shall have a maximum reimbursement rate of two hundred fifty dollars (\$250.00) per person in any twenty four (24) month period or twelve (12) month period for covered individuals under twenty five (25) years of age. It is understood however, that an employee with similar or better coverage elsewhere may claim exemption in which case the Association is not obliged to make any contribution in connection with such employee.

18.08 Long Term Disability

Eligible employees regularly scheduled to work 7/70 or more of a full work week will participate in the L.T.D. coverage provided by the current carrier. It is further understood that the employees are responsible to pay 100% of billed premiums and that such premiums shall be paid by way of payroll deduction.

18.09 Benefit Coverage During A Temporary Increase In Time Worked

Employees who are regularly scheduled to work less than twenty one (21) hours per week and who have their hours of work temporarily increased to twenty one (21) hours per week or more for a period of six (6) months or longer, will be required to enroll in the benefit plan as described above. It is understood, however, that an employee with similar or better coverage elsewhere may claim exemption, in which case the Association is not obliged to make any contribution in connection with such employee.

18.10 Employees who are regularly scheduled to work less than twenty-one **(21)** hours per week, shall be offered the opportunity to enroll in the Association's "Individual Benefit Program", subject to the terms and conditions of the plan. The premiums for the "Individual Benefit Program" are 100% employee paid.

ARTICLE 19 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE

19.01 All requests for leaves of absence, including compassionate grounds and education leave and other than for bereavement leave or illness, shall be made in writing, setting out the reasons for the request and submitted to the employee's manager for approval not later than seven (7) days prior to the requested date of leave. The Association, at its discretion, may grant such leave, with or without pay.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the employee's Manager may grant leave of absence for medical or dental appointments including personal emergencies and/or family illness following a verbal request **by** an employee which shall be as far in advance as possible. Such request for time off shall not be unreasonably denied. Employees may use compensating time, sick leave, vacation credits, bonus time or may make up the time off at a time mutually agreeable to the employee and the manager.

19.02 Emergency Leave

All employees will be entitled to up to seventy (70) hours per year without pay as emergency leave as defined by the Employment Standards Act. This will be prorated to hours worked for employees who work less than 1.0 fte.

19.03 Bereavement Leave

In the event of a death in the family, an employee may be granted a leave of absence of up to five (5) consecutive days without loss of pay.

Additional leave with or without pay may be granted at the discretion of the Association.

For the purposes of this article, family **is** defined as, two or more people, whether living together or apart, related by blood, marriage, adoption or commitment to care for one another.

19.04 Leave for Union Activities

The Association, on receiving two **(2)** weeks' notice in writing from the Union, will grant leave *of* absence without pay but with no loss of credits to not more than two **(2)** employees at any one time to attend **Union** conventions or conferences. Such leaves inclusively shall not exceed an accumulated total of ten **(10)** days per year and shall be permitted only if the operations of the Employer permit.

19.05 Union Executive Leave

- (i) Upon request of the Union, confirmed in writing, and provided that reasonable notice is given, leave-of-absence with no loss of pay and with no loss of credits may be granted to an employee elected as an Executive Board Member and Executive Officer of the Union, for the purpose of conducting the internal business affairs of the Union. Such request will be made with respect to no more than one (1) employee at a time. It is understood that the Association in considering such requests will take into account the operational needs of the Association.
- (ii) The Union will reimburse the Association for salary and for salary related benefit costs (e.g. E.I., C.P.P., O.H.I.P., insurance benefit premium payments, pension contributions) paid to or in respect of an Executive Board member and Executive Officer granted leave under this Article.

19.06 Jury Duty

An employee called for jury duty shall suffer no **loss** in pay with respect to regularly scheduled working hours on days when the employee is required to serve jury duty provided that the employee furnishes the Association with a Certificate of Service signed by the Clerk of the Court showing the amount of any jury fee received and providing such fee is turned over to the Association.

19.07 Prepaid Leave Plan

The Prepaid Leave Plan (PLP) is a plan developed to afford bargaining unit employees the opportunity to take **a** maximum one par leave-of-absence and to finance the leave through deferral of salary in an appropriate amount from the previous years, as outlined in the deferral period chosen. Such deferred salary is to be accumulated and together with interest to be paid out during the period of leave.

19.08 Application

Employees must make written application to the Executive Director, requesting permission to participate in the PLP and setting out the deferral program requested.

19.09 Approval

Written acceptance or denial with explanation, will be forwarded to the applicant within thirty (30) days of receipt of the application.

19.10 Deferral Plans

The following shall constitute the PLP's available:

- (i) two (2) years' deferral of one-third of annual salary in each year, followed by one (1) year of leave;
- three years' deferral on one-quarter of annual salary in each year, followed by one (1) year of leave;
- (iii) four years' deferral of one-fifth of annual salary in each year, followed by one (1) year of leave;
- (iv) five years' deferral of one-sixth of annual salary in each year, followed by one (1) year of leave.
- (v) any other arrangement which may be mutually agreed to by the parties.

19.11 Written Agreement

Following Association approval, the employee and the Association shall enter into a written agreement setting out the terms of the PLP agreed to, in compliance with the conditions herein.

19.12 Selection of Carrier

To be agreed upon by the Association and the Union.

Terms and Conditions

The payment of salary and benefits during the deferral period and the period of leave shall be as follows:

(i) In each year of the PLP preceding the period of leave, the employee will be paid a reduced percentage (in accordance with the PLP chosen by the employee from Article 19. (iii) of the annual salary. The remaining percentage of the annual salary and applicable allowances will be deferred, and this accumulated amount plus any interest earned shall be retained for the participant by the "plan manager" to finance the employee's year of leave.

(ii) Interest Rate

A statement of the amount standing to the participant's credit will be sent to the participant by the "plan manager" yearly on the anniversary of their entry into the plan.

(iii) Benefits Structuring

During the years of PLP prior to the period of leave, any benefits related to salary level shall be structured according to the salary the participant would have received during the deferral period had the employee not been in the PLP.

(iv) Premium Cost

A participant's coverage for Life Insurance, Extended Health, Dental Plan and/or Pension Plan in effect immediately prior to the leave will be maintained during the leave of absence at the employee's option subject to the terms of the plan and approval of the insurance carrier.

(v) Vacation. Holidays and Sick Leave

During the period of leave, the employee shall not receive paid vacations or holidays as provided for in this Agreement; however, during the year preceding and the year following the leave, the employee will receive full vacation and holidays in accordance with this Agreement as if employment had been continuous and not interrupted by the period of leave.

(vi) Seniority

During the period of leave, seniority shall accumulate for the entire period of the leave.

(vii) Payout

At the commencement of the period of leave, the Association shall pay to the participant, the monies standing to the employee's credit.

19.13 Assignment on Return

On return from leave, a participant will be assigned to the same position or to one of comparable value. If lay-off or displacement provisions have been applied during the leave period, the employee will be governed by the terms of Article 16 - Layoff and Recall. In determining the salary level applicable, the period of leave shall qualify for salary increment purposes.

19.14 Withdrawal Rights

In the case of extenuating circumstances and by mutual agreement (which shall not be unreasonably withheld) a participant may withdraw from the PLP any time up to six (6) months prior to the commencement of the leave. Anyone withdrawing from the PLP shall be paid a lump sum adjustment equal to monies deferred plus interest moneys accrued to the date of withdrawal from the PLP. Payment shall be made as soon as possible but must be made within thirty (30) calendar days after withdrawal from the PLP.

19.15 Leave Deferral

In the event that an employee is unable to commence his/her leave at the agreed upon date, the leave may be deferred for a period agreed upon between the employee and the Association.

If a suitable replacement cannot be obtained for a participant who has been granted leave, the Association may, up to **six** (6)months prior to the commencement of the leave, defer the period of the leave.

In either instance, a participant may choose to remain in the PLP for a period not to exceed one (1) ar, or receive payment as outlined in Article 19.14.

19.16 Interest Accumulation

Should Article 19.15 result in a leave of absence being taken later than the intended period, any monies accumulated until the intended commencement date will continue to accumulate interest until the leave of absence commences.

19.17 On Leaving Employment

Any participant who resigns, or is terminated prior to commencement of the leave, shall cease to be a participant in the PLP, and shall receive payment as outlined in Article 19.14.

19.18 Death Clause

Should the participant die while enrolled in the PLP, any monies accumulated plus interest accrued at the date of death will be paid to the estate.

19.19 Income Tax

It is recognized that Canada Customs and Revenue Agency requirements will prevail

ARTICLE 20 - PREGNANCY/PARENTAL LEAVE

20.01 (a) Pregnancy leave **is** a leave of absence without pay by reason of the employees pregnancy for a period of seventeen (17) weeks.

- (b) Parental leave is a leave of absence without pay for a period of up to thirty five (35) weeks if pregnancy leave is taken, or up to thirty seven (37) weeks if pregnancy leave is not taken.
- **20.02** An employee shall make every effort to provide one (1) month's written notice, but in any case, no less than two (2) weeks' notice of his/her intent to take pregnancy or parental leave. The leave of absence shall be in accordance with the provisions of the Employment Standards Act, as amended.
- **20.03** In order to be eligible for pregnancy and/or parental leave an employee must have been hired thirteen (13) weeks prior to the anticipated start date of the leave.

20.04 Pregnancy & Parental Leave Supplementary Allowance

The Association will provide an employee with one hundred percent (100%) of his/her regular weekly earnings during the two (2) week waiting period for Employment Insurance Benefits for Pregnancy or Parental Leave.

- **20.05** For employees, other than probationary employees, seniority continues to accrue during pregnancy leave or parental leave.
- 20.06 While an employee is on pregnancy leave or parental leave, s/he shall continue to participate in each type of benefit plan, for which s/he is eligible unless s/he elects in writing not to do so. The Association's contribution for these benefit plans unless the employee gives the Association a written notice that the employee does not intend to pay the employee's contributions where required.

20.07 Extended Parenting Leave

An extended leave of absence without pay, beyond that provided for in Article 20.01 (b), may be granted to an employee who is taking primary responsibility for child care up to a maximum of fifty-two (52) weeks including the pregnancy and/or parental leave taken. The extension must be taken immediately following the parental leave. The extension must be requested in writing at least one \(\bigcirc\) In onth prior to the expiry of the parental leave taken under Article 20.01 (b). Employees on extended parenting leave shall not accrue seniority.

20.08 An employee returning from a leave-of-absence under Article 20.01 (a) or (b), shall be assigned to their former classification and be paid at the step in the salary range that the employee would have received had s/he been at work.

20.09 Parenting Partner Leave

In cases where a parenting partner has elected not to take parental leave, an employee may be granted, upon request, up to five (5) days off without loss of pay or seniority credits for parenting partner leave, at the time of the birth or adoption of his/her child.

ARTICLE 21 - VACATIONS

- **21.01** April **1st** of each year will be the anniversary date of each employee for the purposes of this article. Employees hired after April **1st** shall be entitled to that portion of the full annual leave earned by them between the date of their employment and the following April **1st**.
- **21.02** Employees shall be entitled to vacations as follows:
 - (a) For the first five (5)years of employment, employees who are employed on a full work week basis shall be entitled to up to one hundred and forty (140) working hours annually which shall accumulate from the date of employment in accordance with the formula set out in Schedule X on the basis of active service. Employees who are employed for less than a full week shall be entitled to earn vacation on a pro rata basis.
 - (b) Commencing with the sixth (6th) year of employment, employees who are employed on a full work week basis, will be entitled to earn an additional seven (7) hours per year up to the completion of ten (10) years of service in accordance with the formula set out in Schedule X on the basis of active service. Employees who are employed for less than a full work week shall be entitled to and earn vacation on a pro rata basis.
- **21.03** During the first six calendar months of employment of any employee, vacation days must be earned before they are taken.
- 21.04 Vacation must be taken within the fiscal year in which it is accumulated. In exceptional circumstances only, employees may submit a request to the Executive Director, not later than January 15th, to carry forward vacations for use in the next fiscal year. Such requests will be limited to not more than seventy (70) hours in the case of full-time employees (to be pro-rated for part-time employees). Such requests will be considered based on: inability to take the time off due to illness, pregnancy, parental leave or extenuating circumstances. Such requests shall not be unreasonably denied.
- **21.05** Vacation requests shall be made, in writing by an employee to his/her manager and vacation should be scheduled by the Association having regard to the operational requirements of the Association and the following considerations:
 - (a) In the case of conflicting vacation requests being submitted by two or more employees prior to April 1st for vacation to be taken during the twelve months following, preference in scheduling shall be given to the most senior employee.
 - (b) In the case of conflicting vacation requests as a result of submissions after April 1st, then preference in scheduling shall be given on a first come, first serve basis.
- **21.06** When a paid holiday, as defined in this Agreement, falls within an employee's vacation period, an extra day shall be added to the employee's vacation or may be taken as time off at some other mutually agreed time.

- **21.07** A statement of vacation credits stating accumulation, days used and balance remaining shall be issued to the employee on or before May 1st of each year.
 - Human Resources Services will annually issue a vacation statement the first week of December reminding employees of the need to take vacation by March 31st and outlining the grounds for requesting carry forward as per Article 21.04
- **21.08** Once annually, an employee may request in writing, to the Manager of Human Resources, at least *two* (2) weeks before the end of the pay period immediately preceding his/her first day of vacation, to receive vacation pay for the forthcoming vacation, in the pay period immediately preceding the vacation. In the event no such request *is* made, vacation pay will be paid with the regular pay period.
- 21.09 In determining the period of continuous service of employees on the active payroll for the purpose of vacation entitlement, active employment means actual attendance at the workplace or location as designated by the Association, and the performance of work, but includes absence from work for vacations and holidays, pregnancy and parental leave, or personal illness covered by sick credits.

ARTICLE 22 - HOLIDAYS

- **22.01** All employees shall be granted the following paid holidays without loss of their regular straight time rate of pay for that day:
 - 1. New Year's Day
- 6. Labour Day
- 2. Good Friday
- 7. Thanksgiving Day
- Victoria Dav
- 8. Christmas Day
- 4. Canada Day
- 9. Boxing Day
- 5. Civic Holiday

22.02 Paid Holidays - Compressed Work Week & lor Flexible Hours

It is understood and agreed that there is a need, from time to time within the full-time Bargaining Unit, to schedule hours of work other than the normal full work week (35 hours per week/7 hours per day). Employees regularly scheduled to work according to a) or b) below shall be compensated for the nine (9) paid holidays as stipulated in Article 22.01 of the Collective Agreement as follows:

(a) Employees Working 10/10 Time - Compressed Work Week and/or Flexible Hours

Employees shall be entitled to seven (7) hours paid time on any paid holiday, Should the paid holiday fall on a day on which the employee is regularly scheduled to work more than seven (7) hours, the employee shall make up the extra time through arrangement with her/his manager. The time shall be made up within the two (2) week period in which the paid holiday falls. The extra time to be made up shall be the difference between the regularly scheduled hours for that day and seven (7) hours.

Should the paid holiday fall on a day on which the employee is regularly scheduled to work less than seven (7) hours, the employee shall be awarded lieu time, the

lieu time to be taken within the two week period in which the paid holiday falls. The lieu time awarded shall be the difference between seven (7) hours and the regularly scheduled hours for that day.

(b) Employees Working Less Than 10/10 Time

Employees shall be entitled to the proportion of seven (7) hours for each paid holiday calculated as follows: Total number of regularly scheduled hours per calendar week divided by five (5).

Should the paid holiday fall on a day on which the employee is regularly scheduled to work more than the number of hours calculated by the above formula, the employee shall make up the extra time through arrangements with her/his manager. The time shall be made up within the two week period in which the paid holiday falls. The extra time to be made up shall be the difference between the regularly scheduled hours for that day and the number of hours calculated by the above formula.

Should the paid holiday fall on a day on which the employee is regularly scheduled to work less than the number of hours calculated by the above formula, the employee shall be awarded lieu time, the lieu time to be taken within the two week period in which the paid holiday falls. The lieu time to be awarded **shall** be the difference between the number of hours calculated by the above formula and the regularly scheduled hours for that day.

Notwithstandingthe above, should the paid holiday fail within a vacation period, or other approved absence, the employee will either make up the time or receive lieu time, upon his/her return to work.

For those employees whose regularly scheduled hours of work have been changed, the calculation for the paid holiday(s) will be according to the 'Guideline for Administration of Paid Holidays for Employees whose Hours of Work have been changed,' which guideline will not be changed during the term of this agreement.

Employees regularly scheduled to work according to (a) or (b) above will be entitled to the additional scheduled days off (bonus days) as outlined in Article 22.01 on a pro-rated basis according to the regular hours scheduled.

22.03 Employees scheduled to work on any of the above holidays may elect to receive either pay or lieu time off at a rate of one and one-half (1%) times their regular rate of pay for the hours worked.

22.04 Bonus Time

In addition to the paid holidays outlined in Article 22.01 there shall be two (2) additional bonus days off. Employees working less than a full work week shall accrue bonus days on a pro-rata basis.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, an employee hired in a fiscal year shall be entitled to bonus days as follows:

- (a) if the employee was hired during the first quarter of the fiscal year, the employee shall be entitled to the two (2) additional scheduled days off;
- (b) an employee hired in the second quarter of the fiscal year will be entitled to one and a half (1.5) additional scheduled days off;
- (c) an employee hired in the third quarter will be entitled to one (1) additional scheduled day off;
- (d) An employee hired in the fourth quarter will be entitled to one half (1/2) additional scheduled day off.

22.05 Religious Holidays

Employees who celebrate religious holidays other than those listed in Article 22.01 may use bonus time, lieu time, or vacation time for the necessary time off, provided that they give reasonable notice.

ARTICLE 23 - HOURS OF WORK

- **23.01** A full work week shall constitute at least thirty-five (35) hours per week exclusive of meal periods. The Association may assign to any employee a work week consisting of less than thirty-five (35) hours.
- 23.02 It is understood and agreed that this Article sets out the normal hours of work for employees covered by this Agreement and is intended only to provide a basis for calculating time worked and shall not constitute a guarantee of hours per day, nor days of work per week, nor working schedules.
- 23.03 Employees shall be entitled to an unpaid lunch period during each normal shift and shall be entitled to one fifteen (15) minute rest period for every three and one half (3%) hours in a day, worked.

23.04 Evening Hours

It is agreed that employees will be required to work one fight per week where there is a service requirement of the Association. It is further agreed that if service requirements of the Association require an employee to work an additional evening in a week, the assignment of the extra evening will be filled on a voluntary basis. If additional evening assignments are required and cannot be filled on a voluntary basis, they will be assigned by rotation through the seniority list of the unit in reverse order of seniority.

23.05 Maintenance

It is recognized that the hours of work for the Maintenance position are thirty-nine (39) hours per week on a flexible schedule agreed to by the Association on the incumbent.

It is recognized that this position requires the incumbent, or his/her designated backup, to be on call to respond in a timely way to building security issues at 355 Church Street. When required to attend 355 Church Street the incumbent will receive a minimum of two (2) hours pay. If the call requires a longer period of time, the incumbent will be paid for the actual time worked.

ARTICLE 24 - OVERTIME

- **24.01** Authorized hours worked in excess of a scheduled work week as referred to in Article 23.01 shall be compensated for on the following basis:
 - a) an employee shall be entitled to compensatory time off on an hour for hour basis for all hours worked in excess of a scheduled work week up to forty-four (44) hours per week;
 - b) hours worked in excess of forty-four **(44)** hours per **week** shall be paid for at time and one-half the employee's regular straight time hourly rate.
 - Compensatory time off shall be granted within thirty (30) days of the day on which the excess hours were worked at a time mutually agreeable to the Association and to the employee. Where such time off cannot be scheduled within the thirty (30) day period referred to above, unless extended by agreement, the Association will pay for each hour worked in excess of thirty-five (35) per week but not exceeding forty-four (44) hours per week on a straight time basis.

ARTICLE 25 - WAGE RATES AND CLASSIFICATIONS

- **25.01** Wages for all classifications shall be paid according to the Schedules of this Agreement.
- **25.02** Employees who are assigned a less than full work week shall be Compensated on a pro rata basis.
- 25.03 Increments are based on a minimum of one (1) full year of employment and may be given on anniversary dates based on performance satisfactory to the Association. Anniversary dates will be established on a quarterly basis (January 1st, April 1st, July 1st and October 1st) with individual anniversary dates being recognized on the closest quarterly date.
 - It is understood, however, that an employee who is absent from work for a period of more than six (6) months shall have his/her anniversary date adjusted except for a leave of absence for pregnancy or parental leave. The new anniversary date shall be the nearest quarterly date after the employee has completed twelve (12) months of active service from the last anniversary date including any months of active service worked since the last anniversary date but before the period of absence began.
- 25.04 In the event an increment has been withheld as a result of unsatisfactory performance, the Association will conduct a second review of the employee's performance no later than three (3) months following the anniversary date and if the

employee's performance has improved to the Association's satisfaction, the increment shall take effect as of the date of the second review. This shall not alter the established anniversary date of the employee.

ARTICLE 26 - TRANSPORTATION

- **26.01** It is recognized that a number of employees covered by this Agreement are required as part of their normal duties and responsibilities to operate motor vehicles. Those employees so required to drive as part of their normal job duties shall hold valid driver's licences of the Class required.
- **26.02** Where an employee is authorized to use his/her own car on approved Association business including driving to assigned duties away from his/her accustomed work location shall be paid a mileage allowance in the amount of thirty-two (32) cents per kilometre.
 - It is understood and agreed that employees using their personal cars on the Association's business shall maintain third party liability insurance in an amount not less than five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000.00).
- **26.03** Where there is a legitimate health and safety concern, and with a supervisor's approval, an employee who works until 9 p.m. or beyond, shall be reimbursed for taxi fare to a maximum of fifteen dollars (\$15.00) to a safe location of his/her choice. Approval for taxi fare shall not be unreasonably withheld.

ARTICLE 27 - PERSONNEL FILES

- **27.01** An employee who has completed his/her probationary period shall have access twice per year to his/her personnel file on at least one (1) days written notice, for the purpose of reviewing any evaluation, formal disciplinary notations, and other documents contained therein.
- **27.02** When a period of eighteen (18) months has passed and no related disciplinary notation has been made against an employee's record, the past disciplinary record dated prior to the eighteen (18) months shall not be used by the Association against the employee in assessing any further disciplinary action.

ARTICLE 28 - RETIREMENT

28.01 It is understood that retirement shalt normally occur at the end of the month in which an employee reaches his/her 65th birthday.

ARTICLE 29 - TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE

- 29.01 The Association agrees to advise the Union as far in advance as is reasonably possible of any proposed technological change which would impact upon the work normally performed by the bargaining unit. Further, the Association agrees to discuss with the Union the implementation of such technological change and practical measures to minimize the effect upon those employees affected by such change.
- **29.02** The Association shall make every effort to ensure that no employee will be laid off because of the introduction of new or modified equipment and/or associated changes in methods of operation.
- **29.03** In the event the Association determines that major technological or organizational change requires an employee to undergo special training, the Association shall provide such training, as it deems necessary, at no cost to the employee with no loss of pay or benefits during the training period.

ARTICLE 30 - TRAINING AND CAREER DEVELOPMENT

30.01 Career development opportunities are supported by the Association in order to enhance the career growth of permanent staff.

Requests to attend career development activities are usually initiated by staff to his/her manager. Managers may also bring to the staffs attention career development activities that support learning goals. Approval by a manager is needed prior to attending career development events.

The Association allocates **five** (5) days and one hundred dollars (\$100.00) per **fte** each fiscal year for career development. Subject to management approval, staff may agree to pool all or some of their development funds for an event(s) available to those in the pool.

In addition, the employer will provide a pool of one hundred dollars (\$100.00) per fte each fiscal year to the program unit budget for training and an annual Association training budget based on no less than one hundred dollars (\$100.00) per fte.

30.02 The Union and the Association recognize the value to the employer and the employees of broadening and deepening the knowledge and skills of employees. To support the goal of continuous learning among employees, the parties agree to create a training advisory committee.

The work of the advisory committee is intended to complement the existing responsibility of staff and supervisors to identify training needs and to implement training plans.

The committee shall be composed of six (6) members, three (3) appointed by the Union, three (3) appointed by the Association to include one (1) non-management excluded employee. The parties agree to make every effort to ensure that the committee shalt be composed of a representative from support staff, program staff and administrative staff. The committee shall be mandated to advise the Association in the areas of training

needs, staff development, implementation and evaluation of training programs for **staff**. The committee agrees to develop its' terms of reference no later than October 31st, 1999.

As part of its' role, the committee will advise on the development and implementation of events and processes designed to share knowledge and expertise across program boundaries.

The committee will be informed by emerging service needs in the community, new research on best practises, and technological changes as identified by agency planning processes.

ARTICLE 31 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT

31.01 This Agreement shall be deemed to be effective until March 31, 2005, and shall automatically continue in effect from year to year thereafter, unless either party gives to the other party notice in writing, within ninety (90) days prior to the expiry date of this Agreement of its desire to terminate or amend this Agreement.

DATED at Toronto, Ontario, this 14 da	y of APRIL	_, 2003.
FOR THE UNION:	FOR THE ASSOCIATION:	
Adrienie Bleman Jell Deveny	A () .	
Jeldoweny		
C. Dohio		hearnna an thirthearn ann an the ann ann an the ann ann an the ann ann an the ann ann an ann ann ann an ann an
Lynda Roach Ferger		
- Adeed Inels		White the second se
Hlooney		
1 4 Q1		

SCHEDULE I - GROUP I - SUPPORT STAFF

Salary Grade 4

- Account Support Assistant, LearnSave
- Accounting Assistant
- Client Service Secretary, OPTIONS
- Customer Service Representative, EAP
- Information Centre Coordinator
- Marketing Assistant, EAP
- Payment Requisition Clerk
- Support Staff
- Volunteer Resources Assistant

Salary Grade 5

- Accounting Clerk
- Administrative Coordinator
- Client Support Associate, EAP
- Communications Officer
- e Maintenance/Delivery Person
- e Office Supervisor, FIT
- e Outreach/Intake Administrator
- OPTIONS, POS/Accounts Payable
- e Program Assistant
- e Purchase of Service Administrator, OPTIONS
- Service Access Worker

Salary Grade 6

- e Administrative Supervisor, EAP
- Internet Communications Specialist
- Marketing & Program Management Coordinator, EAP

Salary Grade 7

Salary Grade 8

- Data Base Administrator
- Network Administrator

Salary Grade 9

- Programmer/Analyst
- Systems Administrator/Data Base Administrator

SCHEDULE II - GROUP! - SOCIAL WORK AND COUNSELLING STAFF

Salary Grade 4

Pre-School Assistant, FIT

Salary Grade 5

Salary Grade 6

Children's Group Leader

Salary Grade 7

Participant Coordinator, LearnSave

Salary Grade 8

- Caregiver Education Service Program Coordinator
- Case Coordinator, Partner Assault
- Community Resource Facilitator
- Community Worker
- Coordinator, Growing Up Healthy Downtown
- Coordinator, Ontario Campaign 2000
- Counsellor
- Family Violence/Community & Social Support Worker
- David Kelley HIV/AIDS Community Counsellor
- Intake Worker, Employee Assistance Programs
- Lesbian/Gay Community Counsellor
- LGBT Parenting Network Coordinator
- Men's Group Leader, Partner Assault
- Network Facilitator
- Partner Contact Counsellor

Salary Grade 9

Coordinator, Service Effectiveness Program

Salary Grade 10

Program Manager, EAP

SCHEDULE III - APRIL 1, 2002 - SEPTEMBER 30, 2002

SALARY GRADE	STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5	STEP6	STEP 7
2	\$24,394	\$25,324	\$26,255	\$27,182	\$28,110	\$29,042	\$29,977
3	\$26,752	\$27,771	\$28,785	\$29,804	\$30,824	\$31,851	\$32,878
4	\$29,329	\$30,452	\$31,574	\$32,696	\$33,815	\$34,939	\$36,064
5	\$32,184	\$33,415	\$34,645	\$35,880	\$37,113	\$38,350	\$39,591
6	\$35,301	\$36,664	\$38,019	\$39,378	\$40,734	\$42,097	\$43,459
7	\$38,748	\$40,239	\$41,730	\$43,221	\$44,714	\$46,209	\$47,706
8	\$42,530	\$44,169	\$45,810	\$47,450	\$49,092	\$50,736	\$52,382
9	\$46,689	\$48,497	\$50,299	\$52,103	\$53,911	\$55,719	\$57,527
10	\$51,261	\$53,250	\$55,236	\$57,222	\$59,21 0	\$61,196	\$63,183

SCHEDULE IV - OCTOBER **■ ,2002 - MARCH 31, 2003**

SALARY GRADE	STEP 1	STEP2	STEP 3	STEP4	STEP 5	STEP 6	STEP 7
		A SECOND	generalise in anima in increase	S NEW S		, OILI	
2	\$24,638	\$25,577	\$26,518	\$27,454	\$28,391	\$29,332	\$30,277
3	\$27,020	\$28,049	\$29,073	\$30,102	\$31,132	\$32,170	\$33,207
4	\$29,622	\$30,757	\$31,890	\$33,023	\$34,153	\$35,288	\$36,425
5	\$32,506	\$33,749	\$34,991	\$36,239	\$37,484	\$38,734	\$39,987
6	\$35,654	\$37,031	\$38,399	\$39,772	\$41,141	\$42,518	\$43,894
7	\$39,135	\$40,641	\$42,147	\$43,653	\$45,161	\$46,671	\$48,183
8	\$42,955	\$44,61∎	\$46,268	\$47,925	\$49,583	\$51,243	\$52,906
9	\$47,156	\$48,982	\$50,802	\$52,624	\$54,450	\$56,276	\$58,102
10 ×	\$51,774	\$53,783	\$55,788	\$57,794	\$59,802	\$61,808	\$63,815

SCHEDULE V - APRIL ■ 2003 - SEPTEMBER 30, 2003

SALARY GRADE	STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5	STEP 6	STEP 7
2	\$24,884	\$25,833	\$26,783	\$27,729	\$28,675	\$29,625	\$30,580
3	\$27,290	\$28,329	\$29,364	\$30,403	\$31,443	\$32,492	\$33,539
4	\$29,918	\$31,065	\$32,209	\$33,353	\$34,495	\$35,641	\$36,789
5	\$32,831	\$34,086	\$35,341	\$36,601	\$37,859	\$39,121	\$40,387
6	\$36,011	\$37,401	\$38,783	\$40,170	\$41,552	\$42,943	\$44,333
7	\$39,526	\$41,047	\$42,568	\$44,090	\$45,613	\$47,138	\$48,665
8	[*] \$43,385	\$45,057	\$46,73 ▮	\$48,404	\$50,079	\$51,755	\$53,435
9	\$47,628	\$49,472	\$51,310	\$53,150	\$54,995	\$56,839	\$58,683
10	\$52,292	\$54,321	\$56,346	\$58,372	\$60,400	\$62,426	\$64,453

SCHEDULE VI - OCTOBER 1, 2003 - MARCH 31, 2004

Salary Grade	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7
2	\$25,382	\$26,350	\$27,319	\$28,284	\$29,249	\$30,218	\$31,192
3	\$27,836	\$28,896	\$29,951	\$31,011	\$32,072	\$33,142	\$34,210
4	\$30,516	\$31,686	\$32,853	\$34,020	\$35,185	\$36,354	\$37,525
5	\$33,488	\$34,768	\$36,048	\$37,333	\$38,616	\$39,903	\$41,195
6	\$36,731	\$38,149	\$39,559	\$40,973	\$42,383	\$43,802	\$45,220
7	\$40,317	\$41,868	\$43,419	\$44,972	\$46,525	\$48,081	\$49,638
8	\$44,253	\$45,958	\$47,666	\$49,372	\$51,081	\$52,790	\$54,504
9	\$48,581	\$50,461	\$52,336	\$54,213	\$56,095	\$57,976	\$59,857
10	\$53,338	\$55,407	\$57,473	\$59,539	\$61,608	\$63,675	\$65,742

SCHEDULE VII - APRIL 1, 2004 - SEPTEMBER 30, 2004

SALARY GRADE	STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP4	STEP 5	STEP 6	STEP 7
2	\$25,636	\$26,614	\$27,592	\$28,567	\$29,541	\$30,520	\$31,504
3	\$28,114	\$29,185	\$30,251	\$31,321	\$32,393	\$33,473	\$34,552
4	\$30,821	\$32,003	\$33,182	\$34,360	\$35,537	\$36,718	\$37,900
5	\$33,823	\$35,116	\$36,408	\$37,706	\$39,002	\$40,302	\$41,607
6	\$37,098	\$38,530	\$39,955	\$41,383	\$42,807	\$44,240	\$45,672
7	\$40,720	\$42,287	\$43,853	\$45,422	\$46,990	\$48,562	\$50,134
8	\$44,696	\$46,418	\$48,143	\$49,866	\$51,592	\$53,318	\$55,049
9	\$49,067	\$50,966	\$52,859	\$54,755	\$56,656	\$58,556	\$60,456
10	\$53,871	\$55,961	\$58,048	\$60,134	\$62,224	\$64,312	\$66,399

SCHEDULE VIII - OCTOBER 1, 2004 - MARCH 31, 2005

SALARY GRADE	STEP 1	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP4	STEP 5	STEP 6	STEP 7
2	\$26,149	\$27,146	\$28,144	\$29,138	\$30,132	\$31,130	\$32,134
3	\$28,676	\$29,769	\$30,856	\$31,947	\$33,041	\$34,142	\$35,243
4	\$31,437	\$32,643	\$33,846	\$35,047	\$36,248	\$37,452	\$38,658
5	\$34,499	\$35,818	\$37,136	\$38,460	\$39,782	\$41,108	\$42,439
6	\$37,840	\$39,301	\$40,754	\$42,211	\$43,663	\$45,125	\$46,585
7	\$41,534	\$43,133	\$44,730	\$46,330	\$47,930	\$49,533	\$51,137
8	\$45,590	\$47,346	\$49,106	\$50,863	\$52,624	\$54,384	\$56,150
9	\$50,048	\$51,985	\$53,916	\$55,850	\$57,789	\$59,727	\$61,665
10	\$54,948	\$57,080	\$59,209	\$61,337	\$63,468	\$65,598	\$67,727

SCHEDULE IX - ACCUMULATION TIMETABLE

	Per Day	N.	er Month	* P	Per Month		Per Year	
Days	Hours	Days	Hours	Days	Hours	Days	Hours	
0.1	0.7	2.18	15.26	0.15	1.05	1.8	12.6	
0.2	1.4	4.35	30.45	0.3	2.1	3.6	25.2	
0.3	2.1	6.53	45.71	0.45	3.15	5.4	37.8	
0.4	2.8	8.7	60.9	0.6	4.2	7.2	50.4	
0.5	3.5	10.88	76.16	0.75	5.25	9.0	63.0	
0.6	4.2	13.05	91.35	° 0.9	6.3	, 10.8	75.6	
0.7	4.9	15.23	106.61	1.05	7.35	12.6	88.2	
0.8	5.6	17.40	121.8	1.2	8.4	14.4	100.8	
0.9	6.3	21.75	137.06	1.35	9.45	16.2	113.4	
1.0	7.0	21.75	152.25	1.50	10.5	18.0	126.0	

- Pro-rata calculations have been made based upon the "Per Year" numbers.
- For table presentation purposes, numbers appearing in the "Per Month" columns have been rounded to 2 decimal points.

BARGAINING UNIT MAXIMUM ACCUMULATION OF SICK LEAVE									
	Days	Hours							
0.1	12	84							
0.2	24	168							
0.3	36	252							
0.4	48	335							
0.5	60	420							
0.6	72	504							
0.7	84	588							
0.8	96	672							
0.9	108	756							
1	120	840							

SCHEDULE X - VACATION SCHEDULE

Per Day	,	Per Mo	nth	Per Ye	ar	6th Yea	ır	7 th Yea	ır	8 th Yea	r	9 th Yea	r	10 th Ye	ar
Days	Hours	Days	Hours	Days	Hours	Days	Hours	Days	Hours	Days	Hours	Days	Hours	Days	Hours
0.1		0.17	1.17	2	14	2.1	14.7	2.2	15.4	2.3	16.1	2.4	16.8	2.5	17.5
0.2		0.33	2.33	4	28	4.2	29.4	4.4	30.8	4.6	32.2	4.8	33.6	5	35
0.3		0.5	3.5	6	42	6.3	44.1	6.6	46.2	6.9	48.3	7.2	50.4	7.5	52.5
0.4		0.67	4.67	8	56	8.4	58.8	8.8	61.6	9.2	64.4	9.6	67.2	10	70
0.5		0.83	5.83	10	70	10.5	73.5	11	77	11.5	80.5	12	84	12.5	87.5
0.6		1	7	12	84	12.6	88.2	13.2	92.4	13.8	96.6	14.4	100.8	15	105
0.7		1.17	8.17	14	98	14.7	102.9	15.4	107.8	16.1	112.7	16.8	117.6	17.5	122.5
8.0		1.33	9.33	16	112	16.8	117.6	17.6	123.2	18.4	128.8	19.2	134.4	20	140
0.9		1.5	10.5	18	126	18.9	132.3	19.8	138.6	20.7	144.9	21.6	151.2	22.5	157.5
1		1.67	11.67	20	140	21	147	22	154	23	161	24	168	25	175

- Pro-rata calculations have been made based upon the "Per Year" numbers.
- For table presentation purposes, numbers appearing in the "Per Month" columns have been rounded to 2 decimal points.

PROPORTION OF FULL TIME	PER WEEK	HOURS WORKED PER WEEK	HOURS WORKED PER DAY 7	BONUS HOURS
.1	.5	3.5	.7	1.5
.2	1.0	7.0	1.4	3.0
.3	1.5	10.5	2.1	4.0
.4	2.0	14.0	2.8	5.5
.5	2.5	17.5	3.5	7.0
.6	3.0	21.0	4.2	8.5
.7	3.5	24.5	4.9	10.0
.8	4.0	28.0	5.6	11.0
.9	4.5	31.5	6.3	12.5
1.0	5.0	35.0	7.0	14.0

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING - RE: TEMPORARY, CASUAL OR CONTRACT EMPLOYEES

It is recognized that, from time to time, the Association engages the services of temporary, casual or contract employees other than those currently excluded under Section **1**01 of the Collective Agreement to cover absences of regular staff due to vacations, illness, accident, leaves of absence, secondments or to perform special projects.

For purposes of clarity, the intermittent employment of persons as subs and relief shall not be covered by the provisions of the Collective Agreement. Where the employment of persons as subs and relief to cover absences of regular staff due to vacations, illness, accident, leaves of absence or secondment, or the employment of persons to perform special projects does not exceed six (6) continuous calendar months, they shall not be covered by the provisions of the Collective Agreement during that period, Subs and relief employed in excess of six (6) continuous calendar months and persons employed to perform special projects shall be covered by the provisions of the Collective Agreement except as provided hereafter:

- (a) Where such employment is **less** than one (1) year or on a contract basis with a fixed expiry date, such persons shall not accrue seniority for the purposes of displacement, notice of layoff, or termination. It is also understood that the expiry of the contract **is** not subject to the grievance procedure. Seniority shall accrue for the purposes of recall to a contract position.
- (b) In the event a contract ends prior to the fixed expiry date, for reasons other than just cause, seniority, as per Article 15, will be granted for purposes of recall to a contract position. No less then one month's notice of layoff or payment in lieu will be provided. It is further understood and agreed that in no case shall the notice period be less than that required by the Employment Standards Act.
- (c) Where such employment is more than six (6) months, they shall be eligible to participate in the life insurance, major medical, sick leave credits, and pension provisions or other benefits under the Collective Agreement.
- (d) Where such employment is less than one (1) year they shall not be entitled to vacation pay except in accordance with the provisions of the Employment Standards Act.
- (e) The Association shall not be required to pay the classification rates set out in Schedule III to such employees during their first year of employment and the employees shall be advised of their rate of pay at the time of their engagement. Should their continuous employment exceed one \(\) ar, then they shall be paid the classification rates in Schedule III, if applicable, providing they are performing the duties and responsibilities of any of the classifications set out therein.

(9 In unusual circumstances, with the written agreement of the Union, a person employed in consequence of a special project will not be covered **by** the provisions of the Collective Agreement during his/her employment.

The Association agrees to advise the Union on a monthly basis of the names and special conditions under which any persons referred to herein have been engaged.

DATED at Toronto, Ontario, this $\frac{Q+L}{L}$ day of $\frac{APRIL}{L}$, 2003.						
FOR THE UNION:	FOR THE ASSOCIATION:					
Adreine Blesman	(K. //)					
Sel Lovenes						
	- Son					
C. Dehio						
Londa Road Forms						

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING - SICK CREDITS AND VACATION CREDITS

1. Sick Leave Credits:

It is understood that an employee who is regularly scheduled to work less than a full work week is entitled to accumulate total sick leave credits on a pro rata basis such that the employee is entitled to accumulate sick leave credits not to exceed the same proportion of the total maximum sick leave credits (as defined in Article 17) which the employee's regularly scheduled hours is of the whole work week (as defined in Article 23). Where an employee's regularly scheduled work week is reduced, the total sick leave credits which may be accumulated by the employee shall be proportionately reduced. In the event the employee's regularly scheduled work week is increased, the total sick credits which she is allowed to accumulate shall increase proportionately.

2. Vacation Credits:

Similarly, it is understood that employees shall accumulate vacation credits on a pro rata basis such that the total vacation credits which may be accumulated by an employee is of the same proportion of the total credits otherwise provided for under Article 21, as is the employee's normally scheduled work week of the full work week as defined in Article 23.

In the event an employee's regularly scheduled work week is reduced, the total vacation credits which may be accumulated by the employee shall be proportionately reduced, however, the employee shall not forfeit such vacation credits which she had accumulated prior to the reduction, but she shall nevertheless be entitled to **use** up such credits as she has accumulated prior to the reduction and **is** otherwise entitled to utilize under Article 21.

Dated at Toronto, Untario, this <u>Try</u> da	ly 01 _
FOR THE UNION:	FOR THE ASSOCIATION:
Adresse Blesman	P. 1
Adresse Blesman	1-0
C. Delio	
Lynda Roach-Fegger	

Data Lat Tamanta Quitania (1) a CH . Jamant DONA

2002

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING- RE: FLEX TIME

The Association and the Union agree that the issue of "flex time" may be raised at an Association - Union meeting by either party. At such time the parties will discuss the feasibility of flex time **as** it pertains to each department. It is understood that "flex time" refers to the regular scheduling of non-9 to 5 hours.

Dated at Toronto, Ontario, this 94k	day of
FOR THE UNION:	FOR THE ASSOCIATION:
adrienne Blenman Dell Lawourf	
	· ·
C. Delio	
Lyndy Roach-Form	
4	

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING- RE: EMERGENCY AFTER HOURS, EAP TRAINING TEAM, DOMESTIC VIOLENCE GROUPS, FAMILY LIFE, EDUCATION PROGRAMMES: ETC.

- 1. It is understood and agreed that employees who participate in the Emergency After Hours Service, the EAP Training Team, Domestic Violence Groups, and/or the Family Life Education Programmes shall not be subject to Article 15 Seniority; Article 16 Lay-off and Recall; Article 17 Sick Leave; Article 21 Vacations: Article 22 Holidays; Article 23 Hours of Work; Article 24 Overtime; and Article 25 Classifications and Wage Rates, nor shall such employees accrue any credits under the Collective Agreement for the purposes of their participation in the Emergency After Hours Service, the EAP Training Team, Domestic Violence Groups and/or Family Life Education Programmes, but the sole basis of the remuneration of such employees shall be as provided below.
- 2. Employees participating in the Family Life Education Programmes or the EAP Training Team, Emergency After Hours Service and/or the Domestic Violence Groups shall be paid such rate as may be fixed by the Association.
- 3. It is understood that Article 13 Job Posting, shall not apply for the purposes of Emergency After Hours Service, Family Life Education Programmes, the EAP Training Team and/or the Domestic Violence Groups.
- 4. For the purpose of clarifying "Family Life Education Programmes", and "Domestic Violence Groups", it is understood that this letter does not apply to employees who are assigned group programmes as part of their regular duties and responsibilities.

Dated at Toronto, Ontario, thisTt	day of, 2003.
FOR THE UNION:	FOR THE ASSOCIATION:
Adrienne Bleaman	B. M
Dill Forence	7
C. Delio	
Lynda Road - Form	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING - RE: PENSION ADVISORY COMMITTEE

The Association and The Union agree to an ongoing pension advisory committee composed of one (1) bargaining unit member; one (1) representative of non-bargaining unithon-management employees; one (1) member of management; one (I) PSEU staff member who shall have no voting rights, and three (3) volunteers appointed by the Board of Directors, one (1) of whom shall serve as chairperson.

The committee will **be** mandated to review pension levels once every three (3) years, commencing in 1995, having regard to the results of the actuarial valuation. Followingthis review, recommendations regarding changes or amendments to the pension plan will be forwarded to the Manager, Human Resource Services, no later than October 1st of each year.

Dated at Toronto, Ontario, this 4th	day of <u>APRIL</u> , 2003.
FOR THE UNION:	FOR THE ASSOCIATION:
Adrenie Blenman	4./
January	
C. Ochio	
Lynda Roach-Form	

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING - RE: EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM

it is understood and agreed that the Association will provide an EAP Program to FSA employees and their immediate family at no cost to the employee. This program will be available during employment and for up to a three (3) month period from the last day worked, in the event of layoff.

- > F.S.A. will provide up to a total of \$450.00 per annum for counselling services per employee and their immediate family members;
- > FSA will contract with a third party service provider to:
 - a) provide telephone assessment, information and referral;
 - a) provide telephone assessmenb) employee assistance service;
 - c) provide confidential reimbursement to employees as appropriate.

The Association agrees to annually conduct a confidential review of the service delivered by the third party provider and to take the necessary steps to ensure continuing quality service.

Dated at Toronto, Ontario, this At day	of <u>APRIL</u> , 2003.
FOR THE UNION:	FOR THE ASSOCIATION:
adrience Blenman	4
() ll Fowlery	A
Callio	
Lynda Roach- Farm	
7	

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING

between

ONTARIO PUBLIC SERVICE EMPLOYEES UNION and its Local 594 and FAMILY SERVICE ASSOCIATION OF TORONTO

The parties recognize the value of volunteers in providing essential and complementary services within the Association which allows for meaningful community service. It is further recognized that there are appropriate roles for both paid workers and volunteers within the Association. The parties agree that:

- 1) volunteers will not be utilized for the purpose of eliminating or displacing bargaining unit positions;
- volunteers will be provided with clear and adequate supervision and support (with a designated staff) and skills training as appropriate;
- 3) volunteer role descriptions outlining a clear understanding of expectations and time frames will be developed for each position;
- there will be a recognized mechanism for the resolution of problems between paid workers and volunteers which the Manager, Volunteer Resources will ensure is in place no later than December 1, 1997;
- 5) volunteers will be utilized to augment programs;
- twice yearly, the Volunteer Coordinator will be asked to provide an update and overview of volunteer placements through the Union/Association meetings.

This letter of understanding shall form part of the Collective Agreement.

Dated at Toronto, Ontario, this d	ay of <u>APRIL</u> , 2003.
FOR THE UNION:	FOR THE ASSOCIATION:
adrience Blenman	A /)
Dill Swency	
C. Delo	
Lynda Roach-Forger	
*	

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING - RE: JOINT BENEFITS COMMITTEE

The parties agree to set up a Joint Benefits Committee comprised of three (3) bargaining unit representatives and three (3) management/excluded representatives. The committee will meet annually to review the performance of the benefit **plan** and to discuss rate increases. The committee may make recommendations to their principles with a view to maintaining reasonable levels coverage and containing costs.

Dated at Toronto, Ontario, this 446	day of $HPRIL$, 2003.
FOR THE UNION:	FOR THE ASSOCIATION:
adrienne Blenman	A. M
Jill Towery	A
C. Oolio	
Lynda Roach-Farer	

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING RE: HOURS OF WORK IN EXCESS OF 35 PER WEEK

The Association and the Union recognize that employees may wish to work a regular work schedule in excess of the standard thirty five (35) hour work week. The guidelines below have been developed on a trial basis. They will remain in effect until December 31, 2003, at which time the parties will either recommit to the guidelines for the duration of the Collective Agreement or allow the Letter of Understanding to expire.

Guidelines:

Where an employee is the successful applicant for a position which when combined with their current position is in excess of thirty five (35) hours per week or 1.0 fte, the following conditions will apply:

- The maximum number of hours regularly scheduled will not exceed forty four (44) or 1.25 fte.
- Benefits which accumulate on an fte basis, including vacation, sick time, bonus time, will be capped at thirty five (35) hours per week.
- Benefits which require contributions commensurate with earnings, including LTD, Life insurance, and FSA Employees Pension Plan will be based on wages paid.
- > Statutory deductions, including EI and CPP will be based on wages paid.
- > Union dues will be deducted based on wages paid.

\supseteq

E. / R/ND VIOF (GREI

between

Family Service Association Of Toronto

and

Ontario Public Service Employees Union and its Local 594

The parties agree that the following terms and conditions shall form the Internal Equity Plan/Job Evaluation Pian.

- 1. All elements of the Internal Equity Plan as attached to this Memorandum of Agreement.
- 2. The Internal Equity Plan will be a supplement *to*, and form, part of the Collective Agreement. All Bargaining Unit classification changes will be incorporated into the Collective Agreement.
- 3. The parties agree to maintain Internal Equity through an ongoing evaluation system as described in the Plan.
- 4. The parties recognize the separateness of Bargaining Unit and Excluded compensation systems. Accordingly, where an evaluated Bargaining Unit and Excluded score within the same band, the parties agree that the differential between Bargaining Unit and Excluded job rates will be no greater nor less than five percent (5%). Resulting internal equity adjustments will be made as required.
- 5. The parties recognize that from time to time marketplace salary demands may impinge upon the Internal Equity system. Managers may make application to the JJEC to review marketplace data on a specific classification. Where the JJEC is supportive of the salary anomaly a Letter of Agreement will be written and the classification and salary rate shall be established.
- 6. The patties agree that the Letter of Understanding, in the Collective Agreement, referencing Emergency After hours, Domestic Violence Groups, and Family Life Education Programs, will supersede this Agreement. Notwithstanding this statement, it is recognized that the salary grades evaluated for the current Contract Group Workers are deemed to be a marketplace anomaly and that the applicable rates for these positions fall under salary grade 8.

7. The parties agree that proposed revisions to this Plan shall **be** based on recommendations from the Joint Job Evaluation Committee and shall not be the subject of Collective Bargaining unless the Committee has first opportunity to consider and review such amendments, prior to notification by either party of the intent to bargain for renewal to the Collective Agreement,

Dated at Toronto, Ontario, this Hhaday of APRIL, 2003.

FOR THE UNION:

Advenue Bleman

Jillaneury

Lynda Raul-Fuzza

APPENDIX "A"

Accountant, Financial Reporting

Administrative Assistant to the Executive Director

Administrative Assistant, Corporate Planning and Project Development

Administrative Assistant, Director, Client Services

Administrative Assistant, Director, Community Building & Social Reform

Administrative Assistant, Director, Financial Services

Administrative Assistant, OPTIONS

Clinical Manager, EAP

Clinical Manager, OPTIONS Program

Communications Manager

Development Co-ordinator

Director, Administrative Services

Director, Business Operations, EAP

Director, Client Services

Director, Community Building & Social Reform

Director, Corporate Planning and Project Development

Director, Developmental Services/OPTIONS

Director, Financial Services

Director, Human Resource Services

Director, Marketing & Development

Executive Director

Human Resources Assistant

Human Resources Officer I

Human Resources Officer II

I.S Manager

Intake Manager, EAP

Manager, Community Action Team

Manager, Counselling Services

Manager, David Kelley Services

Manager, Families in Transition

Manager, Family & Community Services

Manager, Illahee Lodge

Manager, LearnSave

Manager, Men's Program

Manager, Senior and Caregivers Support Services

Manager, Service Access Unit

Manager, Volunteer Development

Payroll Administrator

President, EAP

Vice President, Clinical Services

Vice President, Strategic Client Solutions

All staff working outside of Toronto and any other new positions which become excluded during the time of the Agreement pursuant to Article I.

APPENDIX "B"

Family Service Association of Toronto

INTERNAL EQUITY PLAN May 31, 1999

INTRODUCTION

The Joint Job Evaluation Committee was originally convened in January 1991. The objective of this committee is to develop an **Internal Equity Plan** to achieve fair and equitable salaries for positions at FSA. In early 1998, the JJEC undertook a review and update of our **job** evaluation tool. The committee has re-evaluated all bargaining and excluded positions utilizing the updated questionnaire.

The JJEC consists of three (3) bargaining unit and three (3) management representatives who meet as required to evaluate any newly created or changed jobs, utilizing the gender-neutral **job** evaluation system which has been developed. The committee is responsible for ensuring the consistent application and the ongoing relevance of the job evaluation questionnaire. Two **(2)** members from each party constitute a quorum.

The representatives serve on the JJEC for a three (3) year term commencing June 1st. To allow for continuity, one third (1/3) of the membership from each party may be replaced at least once per year. However, where a representative is unable to fulfill the designated term, a replacement will be selected to serve the balance of the term.

The Internal Equity Plan has several components:

- 1. Job Evaluation and Rating Results
- 2. Conversion Process
- 3. Review Process
- 4. Maintenance

II JOB EVALUATION AND RATING

All positions were evaluated by the Committee utilizing gender neutral point factor Job Evaluation Questionnaires, and job descriptions. Employee and/or supervisory interviews were conducted on an as needed basis.

he duties and responsibilities of all positions were evaluated under the following factors:

SKILL

RESPONSIBILITY

Reading	Client Responsibility
Writing	Impact of Error
Oral Communication	Internal Service Peer

Oral Communication Internal Service Responsibility Education Independence of Action

Experience Innovation
Planning Problem Solving

Equipment (Operation or Maintenance) Financial Responsibility

Second Language Numeric **Skills**

Computer Knowledge

Supervision/Training

EFFORT

WORKING CONDITIONS

Concentration of Effort

Physical Effort

Working Conditions

Each factor and sub-factor were given a point value rating. Positions were then slotted into "bands" or salary grades according to the total point rating as shown below.

GRADES	POINTS
Grade 3	200-359
Grade 4	360-479
Grade 5	480-599
Grade 6	600-699
Grade 7	700-799
Grade 8	800-899
Grade 9	900-999
Grade 10	1,000-1,099
Grade 11	1,100-1,299

III CONVERSION PROCESS

In some instances, the present salary grade of the position differs from the evaluation results. Where this occurs, conversion from the former salary range to the appropriate salary range is required.

Conversion Steps

- 1. For employees whose positions are being reclassified to a higher salary grade, the following formula will be used:
 - The employees will be placed no less than one grade higher and 2 steps lower* than their current grade and step effective May 31, 1999.
 - Anniversary dates will not be amended.
 - b) Employees who are on step 1 or 2 prior to the reclassification, will be placed at step 1 of the new grade and will have their anniversary date amended to April 1, 2000.
- 2. Where a position is **reclassified to a lower salary** grade, the following process will be used:
 - a) The employee's current salary will not be reduced. Anniversary dates will not be amended.
 - The employee will be placed at a step on the revised grade which most closely reflects their current salary, providing it does not exceed the current salary or the maximum dollar value of the new range. The current salary will be red-circled until such time as the salary is in line with the appropriate dollar value of the revised salary grade and step. There will be no wage or merit increases for the employee while red-circled.

IV APPEAL PROCESS

- 1. If an employee (or supervisor) feels their position (or a position which they supervise) has been inappropriately evaluated, they may submit a written request for an appeal to the Joint Job Evaluation Committee (JJEC) via Human Resources Services. Appeals will be accepted until August 13, 1999.
- 2. The JJEC will provide a copy of the questionnaire as scored by the JJEC to the employee and/or the supervisor.
- If the employee and/or supervisor wishes to proceed with the appeal, this can be done either in writing or by making a brief presentation to the JJEC, identifying the areas of disagreement.
- 4. All employees are entitled to representation at JJEC meetings if they wish,
- 5. The JJEC will hear appeals commencing in September 1999 and will make every reasonable effort to hear and render decisions on all appeals by October 31, 1999. Any changes which may result from this process will be implemented retroactively to May 31, 1999.

6. All decisions of the JJEC will be considered final.

V MAINTENANCE OF INTERNAL EQUITY

The parties agree to maintain internal equity based on the following parameters:

Process for Evaluating Newly Created Jobs

- a) The JJEC will make every effort to meet to evaluate all new or changed job descriptions within 30 days of being notified.
- b) The JJEC will make every reasonable effort to evaluate all newly created positions prior to posting. If this is not possible, this will be indicated in the job posting. A final **job** evaluation review will be conducted after the position has been filled for a six (6) month period. This review must be completed and any reclassification implemented effective the first day of the 6th month following appointment of the position.
- c) For positions that are **re-evaluated to a higher grade**, employees will be placed at a step on the revised grade which, is not less than, and most closely reflects their current **salary**.
- d) For positions that are **re-evaluated to a lower grade**, the current salary will be red-circled (no wage or merit increases) for a six month period. At the end of six months, employees will be placed at a step on the revised grade which most closely reflects their current salary, providing it does not exceed the current salary or the maximum dollar value of the new range.
- e) **if** an employee (or supervisor) feels their position (or a position which they supervise) has been inappropriately evaluated, they may submit a written request for an appeal *to* the JJEC via Human Resources Services within 30 days following the evaluation (refer to section IV Appeal Process 1-4). Any changes which may result will be implemented retroactively to the first day of the sixth (6th) month following appointment to the position.

Process for Evaluating Gradual Change in Job Duties

When a Manager and an employee, after discussion, agree changes to job duties have occurred over time, the Manager will submit a revised Job Description to the JJEC via Human Resource Services within 30 days of their discussion.

If a revised job description is not submitted within this time limit, the employee will contact the Human Resource Services, who will ensure that a revised Job Description is completed within the next two (2) weeks.

- If there is a disagreement between an employee and her/his manager about the need to change the **job** description; the employee may request a review by the JJEC. Such requests must be submitted in writing to the JJEC, via Human Resource Services, with a copy to the manager, within thirty (30) days following the original discussion.
- If a position is classified at a higher grade, employees will be placed at a step on the revised grade which, is not **less** than, and **most** closely reflects their current **salary** retroactive to the date of the submission to the JJEC. Such positions will not be posted.
- For positions that are re-evaluated to a lower grade, the current salary will be red-circled (no wage or merit increases) for a six (6) month period. At the end of six (6) months, employees will be placed at a step on the revised grade which most closely reflects their current salary, providing it does not exceed the current salary or the maximum dollar value of the new range.
- e) If an employee (or supervisor) feels their position (or a position which they supervise) has been inappropriately evaluated, they may submit a written request for an appeal to the JJEC via Human Resources Services within 30 days following the evaluation (refer to section IV Appeal Process 1-4). Any changes which may result from this process will be implemented retroactively to the date of the submission.

) 388 fc : Evaluating Significant Changes to Job Assignments

- Prior to introducing **significant changes** to a position, the Manager will submit a revisedjob description to the JJEC via the Human Resources department.
- b) the revised position is classified on the same grade, the new duties can be assigned.

- ii) If the revised position is classified at a lower grade, the employee can **choose** to remain in the position, be red-circled (no wage or merit increases) for a six (6) month period and then be placed on the revised grade according to the guidelines specified in Article 14.02, **or** be laid-off and exercise their rights under Article 16 Layoff and Recall.
- iii) If the revised position is classified to a higher grade, the incumbent will be laid-off and the position will be posted. Any changes to compensation resulting from the evaluation will be implemented upon assignment of the new or revised duties. These positions will be re-evaluated at the end of the six (6) month period as outlined in Process for Evaluating Newly Created Positions.
- iv) If an employee (or supervisor) feels their position (or a position which they supervise) has been inappropriately evaluated, they may submit a written request for an appeal to the JJEC via Human Resources Services within thirty (30) days following the evaluation (refer to section IV Appeal Process 1-4).

on of Time rames

If the Employer does not respond within the time frames described above, the employee's reques' for re-evaluation will be effective from the date the request went in.